ARCHLine.XP® 2021

Windows

ARCHITECTURAL

TUTORIAL



Information in this document is subject to change without notice and does not represent a commitment on the part of CadLine. The software, which includes the information contained in any databases, described in this document is furnished under a license agreement or nondisclosure agreement. The software may be used or copied only in accordance with the terms of the agreement. It is against the law to copy the software on any medium except as specifically allowed in the license or nondisclosure agreement. The licensee (purchaser) may make one copy of the software for the purpose of creating a -backup copy. No part of this tutorial may be reproduced, transmitted, transcribed, or translated into any language in any form or by any means, without the express written permission of CadLine.

2021 CadLine. All rights reserved.

In no event shall CadLine be liable for special, indirect or consequential damages in connection with or arising from the use of this document or any programs contained herein.

Microsoft, MS, and MS-DOS are registered trademarks and Windows is a trademark of Microsoft Corporation.

ARCHLine.XP[®] is a trademark of CadLine.

This tutorial was produced using Microsoft Word and ARCHLine.XP®.

Contents

1.	Part: Build	ding design	7
	1.1.	Getting started	7
	1.1.1.	Creating a new project	7
	1.1.2.	How do I correct any mistake during work?	7
	1.1.3.	Interface and navigation fundamentals	7
	1.2.	Working with external files	8
	1.2.1.	Importing DWG drawings	9
	1.3.	Creating walls on DWG drawings	
	1.3.1.	Selecting wall styles	
	1.3.2.	Drawing walls on DWG floor plan	
	1.3.1.	Change the layer settings of walls	15
	1.4.	Openings: Doors and windows	16
	1.4.1.	Doors	
	1.4.2.	Windows	19
	1.4.3.	Place two windows as corner window	21
	1.4.4.	Slab tool - Creating the flooring	23
	1.4.5.	Slab tool - Creating a terrace	24
	1.4.6.	Creating a ramp	25
	1.5.	Multi-layer walls	
	1.6.	Stairs	
	1.6.1.	Placing stairs	
	1.6.2.	Modifying properties of the previously placed staircase	
	1.7.	Working on an additional floor	
	1.7.1.	Copy content from one floor to the other	
	1.7.2.	Customizing the content of the 1. floor	40
	1.8.	Creating railings	50
	1.9.	Roof	52
	1.9.1.	Creating the loft floor	52
	1.9.2.	Designing the roof	54
	1.9.3.	Changing the roof contour	55
	1.9.4.	Designing the fire-wall	55
	1.9.5.	Designing the roof gutter	57
	1.10.	Importing objects - Solar panels	59
	1.11.	Columns	61
	1.11.1.	Place structural columns outside	61
	1.11.2.	Column cutout, recess, attachment	62
2.	Part: Docu	umentation	67
	2.1.	Sections, elevations and views	67
	2.1.1.	Sections	67
	2.1.2.	Hatch patterns on sections	70
	2.1.3.	Project location and North direction	70
	2.1.4.	Elevations	71
	2.2.	Documentation	75
	2.2.1.	Callouts	75
	2.2.2.	Dimensioning	78
	2.2.3.	Room and area	82
	2.2.4.	Elevation on floor plan	84



3.

2.2.5.	Symbols	85
2.2.6.	Placing a text	88
2.2.7.	Lengths dimensioning	89
2.2.8.	Elevation on section	90
2.2.9.	Material markers	91
2.2.10.	Serial in vertical	91
2.2.11.	Layer markers	92
2.2.12.	Tags	92
2.2.13.	Schedules	94
2.2.14.	Quantity take-off	94
2.2.15.	Design phases	95
2.2.16.	Plot layout	96
2.3.	Printing	107
2.3.1.	PDF printing / Publishing a PDF file	108
2.3.2.	Print queue	109
2.3.3.	Exporting DWG files	111
2.3.4.	Exporting IFC files	111
Part: Visu	al design	115
3.1.	Preparing the model	115
3.1.1.	Creating a simple sketch of the neighbouring building	115
3.1.2.	Linking terrain and buildings	118
3.1.3.	Drawing a swimming pool	120
3.1.4.	Drilling a hole into the terrace for the pool	121
3.1.5.	Creating the pool water using the slab tool	122
3.1.6.	Importing objects	122
3.1.7.	Perspective views	125
3.1.8.	Adding shadows	126
3.1.9.	Sun light	127
3.1.10.	Shadow simulation	128
3.1.11.	Working with lamps	128
3.1.12.	Taking snapshots	129
3.1.13.	Working with materials	129
3.1.14.	Coloring materials and textures	130
3.1.15.	Render styles	131
3.1.16.	Real-time render	132
3.1.17.	Working with Color cards	133
3.1.18.	Creating a new material	137
3.2.	Visualization	138
3.2.1.	Architectural render settings	138
3.2.2.	Creating the final renders	140
3.2.3.	Render list	141

What is ARCHLine.XP°?

ARCHLine.XP is a large-scale 3D BIM software for architecture, rendering, site design, interior design and decoration projects.

ARCHLine.XP is an architectural design software equipped with a fully integrated Open BIM interface, providing the tools to create coordinated and computable building models. Every component, such as floor plans, sections, and elevations are in one comprehensive model. Your BIM projects are fully coordinated and they don't require any manual updates to keep them synchronized.

Working with ARCHLine.XP architectural design software you can create: floor plan views, section views, elevation views, perspective views, construction details, printing layouts, schedules, Excel reports, renderings, photo inserts, and even animations.

ARCHLine.XP is specifically designed for residential and commercial design professionals. It allows you to easily and efficiently produce 3D models and construction documents.

Description

The aim of this tutorial is to guide you through the planning of a residential building, step by step. This tutorial consists of 3 main parts:

- 1. Building design
- 2. Documentation
- 3. Visual design

During this tutorial we look through how we can import a situation plan and an architectural floor plan into ARCHLine.XP, then create a 3D architectural model on that basis.

To get the most out of this tutorial it is best to run ARCHLine.XP[®] and YouTube with the appropriate video, so that you can get experiment with the concepts that are mentioned in the tutorial.



1. Part: Building design

1.1. Getting started

Open the YouTube video: https://youtu.be/L0BMyvcXiQ0

1.1.1. Creating a new project

When ARCHLine.XP starts, the Welcome dialog appears, allowing you to choose how you want to start working with the program.



Click NEW PROJECT to create a new, blank project.

In this tutorial we will convert CAD lines on the floor plan into 3D architectural walls and other BIM elements.

It is also possible to start from scratch and work on an empty project by drawing walls directly.

1.1.2. How do I correct any mistake during work?

Let's pause for a second and talk about fixing mistakes that might accidentally happen.

It is human nature that sometimes we make mistakes while following a tutorial or we work on our projects. If this happens to you, relax and just have a look at the following pieces of advice.

- If you select a wrong tool press ESC and just select the proper one.
- If you create or modify a wrong item, press ESC and click on the UNDO button.
- If you delete anything unintentionally, press ESC and click on the UNDO button.
- If you open a dialog unintentionally or enter wrong values, press Cancel.

1.1.3. Interface and navigation fundamentals

Navigation in ARCHLine.XP is very simple and straightforward, especially when you already have design experience with any other 2D or 3D design software. Let's summarize how we can handle drawing content and navigate around the interface of ARCHLine.XP before we jump in to start this tutorial.

Managing the content layout

圖

To manage multiple drawings with one click simply use the **Enlarge active drawing** button of the Navibar. This will always enlarge the currently active drawing content.





Zoom

Scroll up or down to zoom in and out on a 2D content and in a 3D view.

Pan

Hold down the mouse wheel and move the mouse at the same time. This moves the current content to the desired direction. Release the mouse wheel to stop panning.

Orbit

To orbit around the model **keep holding the mouse wheel + SHIFT key and move the mouse**. To finish orbiting around the model simply release the mouse wheel and the SHIFT key.

Look around

When you already have a perspective view (this topic is covered later by the tutorial) you can **hold the right mouse button and move the mouse** around to look around in the model.

Selecting one item

When you would like to select an item, you should simply **click on the item** and it gets selected. You will see that the item gets recolored with the selection color and the selected item's properties appear on the left-hand side. To deselect an item simply hit ESC on your keyboard or click on another item.

Selecting multiple items

- If you would like to select multiple items you can either:
- add a new item to the selection by holding down the Ctrl key on the keyboard while clicking on another item or
- you can click and drag the mouse over the drawing to draw a selection rectangle and click again in the end to select items under the selection rectangle. When you draw a selection rectangle from left to right all items that are completely under the selection rectangle will be selected. When you draw a selection rectangle from right to left, all items that are completely under and also those that are only "touching" the selection rectangle, will be selected.

Selection list



When you click on an item and see the selection list, that means there are multiple items which can be selected at the same click-point. You can use the left and right arrows on it to navigate to the previous or the following selection. To cycle through the possible items, you can also use the TAB key on your keyboard. You can also use the selection jump-list by clicking on the arrow pointing down and selecting the desired item.

User interface

To make sure you work with the default software interface – which this tutorial is based on – use the **Ribbon bar / View /** User interface / Reset interface to factory default command.

These are the most fundamental things about the interface and the navigation tools. All the rest of the interface, the location and management of tools and the commands will be taught as you progress through this tutorial.

1.2. Working with external files

If you are using ARCHLine.XP you can import, link or export CAD files, in DWG or DXF file formats.

Before you import a file containing the floor plan, it's helpful to know which formats are supported:

- raster images in JPG and PNG format
- PDF files as raster images
- PDF files as vector drawings
- DWG/DXF drawing
- IFC model

Importing a DWG drawing means a geometry import, so as a result, we get a drawing with precise units of measure. It may contain points, lines, polylines, arcs, circles, ellipses, notes, hatches, dimensions, raster images.

Let's start working!

1.2.1. Importing DWG drawings

- Select the File menu / Link / Link Cad command.
- Browse to the ...\Documents\ARCHlineXP DRAW\2021\Architectural_Course\DWG folder with the following file: elata_nova_START-Ground floor.dwg
- Click on the "Open" button and the following dialog appears:



- The unit is automatically recognized, and you can also select another unit of measurement from the drop-down list. Selecting the correct unit ensures that your imported drawing is accurately measured. Make sure "mm" is selected.
- Import the file by pressing "OK".
- In the appearing dialog select the Automatic Position the incoming geometry with the original coordinates option, the drawing is imported to the same location where it was drawn in the original application.



• The layer structure of the DWG file is also imported. You can easily activate and deactivate layers' visibility with the Layer Walk command.



- Check if geometry is imported at the correct scale.
- To do this, choose the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Measure / Distance command.



• Measure the front door, which should be 1300 mm.

Info about distance		×
Measured distance	1300 mm	
Measured distance in x	1300 mm	
Measured distance in x	0 mm	
Copy to clipboard		Close

The scale unit is correct.

- If you accidentally selected a wrong unit and the drawing is having a wrong scaling don't worry. You can either undo the import/link and repeat it with the correct scaling or actually there is a Scale command in the Ribbon bar at the **Edit menu / Move / Scale**.
- Importing a DWG drawing you get a good quality situation plan or floor plan. Imported CAD items can be selected and edited just like any 2D items that were created in ARCHLine.XP. When importing a DWG file, the program automatically recognizes the dimensions and notes. These can also be easily adjusted or removed from the floor plan.

1.3. Creating walls on DWG drawings

In this part, we create a residential building based on the imported drawing. ARCHLine.XP generates the 3D BIM model parallel as you work on the floor plan.

1.3.1. Selecting wall styles

You can also work with the wall styles that appear on the left side after starting the wall command. The tiny wall preview at the bottom of the list keeps you informed about the wall characteristic you are working with.



When you start an element creating command (e.g.: walls, door, window etc.) the Properties panel on the left side displays all the styles of that element.

Styles can be classified as:

- Factory (built-in) styles **
- ÷ Styles in project only
- ٠ My styles
- Company styles



Factory (built-in) styles: Factory (built-in) styles come with the installation of the software. These styles are read-only so you cannot change them. These built-in styles are represented by an orange-tinted envelope icon.

Styles in Project only: Styles created and saved in a project only are included in this category. Please note that these styles are not available in other projects. These styles are represented by a blue upside-down envelope icon.

My styles: You can store your favourite styles here in order to make those available in every project. These styles are represented by a human shape icon.

Company styles: You can deploy styles within your organization if you define the organizational style package with name and shared network location (Path). Styles relocated to company package are accessible to all users on shared network. Implementing organizational standards and rules allow users to become more proficient. Company styles are represented by a folder shape icon.

In this tutorial we do not work with Company styles.



1.3.2. Drawing walls on DWG floor plan

Walls can be created many ways either from scratch or based on an existing drawing content. When working from scratch you can draw walls with the following tools:

- straight wall
- curved wall
- rectangle wall
- spline wall

This time we will use the DWG file to turn its 2D shapes into real BIM walls. The **Walls on DWG drawing** command can be used to convert CAD lines on the floor plan into 3D architectural walls.

• Select Building / Wall / Walls on DWG drawing tool.



• Click near to the wall starting (1) and end point (2), then on the opposite side of the wall (3). The wall appears in the 3D view.



- Use this method to draw all the main walls.
- Then continue with the partition walls.



If the wall joints in the 3D model are incomplete, choose the **L or T wall connection** options from the toolbar appearing at the top of the ARCHLine.XP application window, and join the walls properly.



T connection

The T connection removes the unwanted walls or adjusts missing wall segment of the first selected item relative to the intersection with the second item. The wall, which is selected secondly will not be modified.

Now let's see the case when the T connection adjusts the missing wall segment relative to the intersection with the second wall.

Draw two walls as it is show below:

Click on the icon (representing T connection) on Toolbar then select with a single click the wall to be adjusted (1), then the second wall (2).



• Undo this action by pressing the 🚺 icon.

Now see the case when the T connection command shortens the first wall relative to the intersection with the second wall.





The wall segment, which extends over the intersection was modified.

• Undo this action by pressing 🛄 icon.

L connection

The L connection aligns the items to each other; shortens or extends walls, so selected points closer to the end points coincide.

• Click on the _____ icon (representing L connection) on the Toolbar then, select the first wall with a single-click, then select the second wall.



L connection is created between walls.

• Finally, select "Bright White" as exterior side material of the walls. Select the whole floor plan with the selection rectangle, then in the left side Properties, set the "Finish Face: Exterior" to "Bright White".

At this point your 3D model should look like this image below.



Properties	ņ	×				
Wall (17)		Ŧ				
No style						
Property	Value	^				
☆ General						
Layer	Wall 🗸	,				
Colour						
Line type	Simple Line 🗸	,				
Line weights	0.3 mm 🗸 🗸	•				
Draw Order	8 - Bo 🗸	•				
Move objects to o	Ground floor					
Copy objects to o	Ground floor					
BIM parameters	Edit					
BIM name						
Height	2700 mm 🗸 🗸	,				
Base Elevation	0 mm 🗸 🗸	, 				
Constrains						
Absolute elevation	0 mm					
Total thickness:	* VARIES *					
Slant angle	90°					
Fill pattern orientation: Default						
Same materials						
Finish Face: Interior	Bright					
Finish Face: Exterior	Bright					

1.3.1. Change the layer settings of walls

Every element in the project is placed on a layer. New layers can be created at any point of the designing process, however when you open a new project, there will be default layers that can be used.

• Select a partition wall on the floor plan and change its layer to Wall - Partition wall in the property grid.

Properties	4 ×
Wall	v
1 layered 38 wide	: wall
Property	Value ^
☆ General	
Layer	Wall - L 🗸
Colour	Hatch01
Line type	IFC element
Line weights	Interior - Bathroom - Decoration
Draw Order	Interior - Bathroom - Furnishing
Move objects to othe	Interior - Bathroom - Lighting
Copy objects to othe	Interior - Bedroom - Eurnishing
BIM parameters	Interior - Bedroom - Liahting
BIM name	Interior - Kitchen - Decoration
Height	Interior - Kitchen - Furnishing
Page Claustice	Interior - Kitchen - Lighting
	Interior - Living room - Decoration
GUID	Interior - Living room - Furnishing
Classification	Interior - Living room - Lighting
Constrains	Lighting - Exterior
Absolute elevation	Lighting - Interior
Total thickness	Line01
Structure	MEP
Floor framing	Méretezés - Mutatóméretezés
Slant angle	Object
Fill pattern orientation:	Object - Interior
Same materials	Object02
Finish Face: Interior	Pointu I Relycon 01
Finish Face: Exterior	Railing
Body material	Raster image
Disallow wall joins	Roof
Colouring on the fl	Room survey
Mirroring	Slab
Skip this wall over room	Solid model
Structural properties	Space
Attributes of the Finis	Terrain
	Text
	Text - Annotation
Line has	Text - Notes
Line type	Title box
Properties Design center	Wall - Load-bearing wall
	Wall - Partition wall
	Add new layer

Rule-based filters

To select all partition walls in one simple step, we are going to use filters. Filters can be used for multiple things: rulebased graphic override, rule-based selection and rule-based visibility.

• Activate the floor plan and open the Filters dialog.



16 Part 1: Building design

- Filter the walls based on their thickness. The load-bearing walls are thicker than the partition walls, thus we can create a rule to sort the thinner walls.
- In the first column of the dialog select the Architectural elements from the drop-down menu and activate walls.
- Select the Total thickness option in the middle column and click on the arrow to add it to the filter.
- In the right side of the dialog now you can see that a new row is added to the list. Here you can set the specifications of the filter. Set the Operation to *No more than* and set the value to 150 mm.
- Click OK to activate the filter.

Filter:	;								×
Discipline:									
Architect	ural elements \sim	Group		Filters					
		General properties Calculated values		• Filter		🥒 Se	lection		Ø
	Wall Door Window	Pset_WallCommon (10) Quantities (13)							
	Corner window Curtain wall Slab	ARCHiine.xP Common (5)]	New	Delete	Delete All	Import	Export	Export All
	Column Beam Roof	All elements Building		Types		Property	Operation	Value	
	Stair Ramp Railing Room and area	Floor Style Layer 2 Height	->	Wall		lotal thickness	No V	150 mm	
	Plinth Surveyed room Group	Total thickness Finish Face Ext. material Finish Face Int. material	3						
		Slant angle Base Elevation							
		Display tiling on the exterior side Display tiling on the interior side		All filter cond	itions must be tr	ue			Delete
		From existing object		O At least one f	filter condition m	nust be true	5		
						0	К		Cancel

Now all partition walls are selected on the floor plan.

• Change their layer to Wall – Partition wall in the Property grid like previously.



1.4. Openings: Doors and windows

This section covers the essentials to place doors / windows into the walls created so far.

The creation method of openings is the same for doors, windows, voids or recesses.

There is a strong connection between wall and openings. An opening (with a few exceptions) is always hosted in a wall: if you move a wall its openings move together with the wall.

1.4.1. Doors

Place doors according to the DWG drawing, so the door width will be defined by the DWG drawing. The doors are all 2100 mm high, except the front door which is 2400 mm high.

You can set the door properties by selecting its properties on the Ribbon bar or using pre-defined doors from the styles that appear on the left after the command has been started.

• Now select Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Opening / Door command.



In this case modify the "Distance from wall line" to "0" because these doors will be inserted into 100 mm wide partition walls.

Door					x
Main parameters	Width:		900 mm	Redraw	
Representation	Height:		2100 mm		
Reveal	Thickness		100 mm		
Basic geometry	michness.		100 11111		
Outer bandle			<u>^</u>		
Outer nanule	Hide opening and make a void				
Inner handle	Distance from wall line	0 mm			
Accessories	Sill height	0 mm			
Accessories	Outer sill height:	0 mm			
Interior and exterior sills	Add level shift				
Built-in details	Colour				
	Line type	Simple Line	~		
	Line weights	0 mm	~		
	Draw Order	8 - Bottom-most	~		
	Reference axis	Side	~		
	Distance from wall corner	0 mm			
	Lining and a	rchitrave			
	Dimension, co	nsignment			
	Thermal par	ameters			
	Ratio (Illumination area)	100%			
	A	10000	•		
	Material Value				
	Solid Wood-paldad	, ,			
	Wing Wood-paldad)			
				Flush	
BIM Parameters	Normal door			ОК	Cancel
					//.

- Modify the material of the door. Choose the "Wood-paldao" material from the material libraries.
- Close the dialog by pressing "OK".

Let's draw the doors based on the original content of the DWG drawing.

- Select the Ribbon bar / Building / Door / Door by two points command.
- Now define the first and second point of the door with two clicks one after the other.
- Then, move the mouse to find the opening direction and click to set it.





• Use this method to insert other doors.

Let's switch the front door and one of the other doors with a double door.

Double door

- To modify an already placed door, select it and from the Pop-up menu, select the pencil icon to open its properties.
- Open the library by clicking on the button with the name of the door type on it, below the preview window.
- Select a double door "Flush internal double" and close the library with the "OK" button.
- Now the program asks whether we want to keep the already set dimensions of the doors. In this case, select "**Yes**", because we have followed the dimensions given by the DWG drawing.
- Change the Thickness value to 100 mm and click OK to close the dialog.

Front door

- Select the front door and from the Pop-up menu, and select the pencil icon to open its properties.
- Open the library by clicking on the button with the door type on it, below the preview window.
- Select a double outdoor "Flush one side fixed" and close the library with the "OK" button.
- Now the program asks, whether we want to keep the already set dimensions of the doors. In this case, select yes, because we have followed the dimensions given by the DWG drawing.
- Modify the Distance from the wall line to 100 mm and the Height to 2400 mm.

Sliding door

Finally, place the last door which is a sliding door.

- Select the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Opening / Door command.
- Open the library, by clicking on the button with the door type on it, below the preview window.
- Select a sliding door "Glass sliding in 1" and close the library with the "OK" button.
- Modify the Distance from the wall line to 50 mm.
- Close the dialog window with **OK**.
- Finally place the door on the inner side of the wall using the **Ribbon bar / Building / Door / Door by two points** command.





1.4.2. Windows

Let's place windows. First set the properties of the windows.

- Select the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Opening / Window command.
- From the window default properties dialog window open the library and select a window which has 3 vertically divided glass parts: "Divided frame 1x equal".
- Set its Thickness to 110 mm, its Height to 2100 mm and its Sill height to 0 mm.
- Choose another solid material (same with the doors) "Wood-paldao".

Nindow								
				4000	_		Redraw	
riain parameters	Width:			1200 mm	_ ī			
Representation	Height:			2100 mm				
Reveal, void, niche	Thickness:			110 mm				
Basic geometry					~			
Outer handle	Hide opening a	nd make a void	1			N/ B		
Inner handle	Distance from wall	line	100 mm					8 H H
·····	Sill height		0 mm					
Accessories	🗌 Outer sill heigh	t:	900 mm					
Interior and exterior sills	Add level shift							
Built-in details	Colour							111
	Line type		Simple Line	~				9 8 8
1	Line weights		0 mm	~		100		
1	Draw Order		8 - Bottom-most	~		10.0		5 B W
	Reference axis		Side	~				
1	Distance from wall	corner	4581.2 mm			6		
		Lining and a	architrave					110
		Dimension, c	onsignment					888
		Thermal pa	arameters			191		0.00
	Ratio (Illumination	area)	100%			15 8		
		•	10001		·			
	Material	Value					And in the owner where	
	Solid	Wood-palda	10					
	wing	Glass26			E C			
T					- L		Divided frame 1x	equal
BIM Parameters	No stv	le					к	Cancel

• Finally set this material to both sides of the sills on the Interior and exterior sills tab.



Main parameters Representation Reveal, void, niche Basic geometry Distance measured from the window to wall Sill thickness (H) Outer handle Extension Material Inner handle Material Distance measured from the window to wall Sill sope in % (min:0, max: 10%) Distance measured from the window to wall Distance measured from the floor plan in 1:20 V Extension Sill sope in % (min:0, max: 10%) Distance measured from the floor plan in 1:20 V Extension Bills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 V Reference pointits </th <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>						
Representation Reveal, void, niche Basic geometry Duter handle Interior and exterior sills Buit-in details Profile cross-section Deth (W) Deth (W) Distance measured from the window to wall 20 mm Sill sope in % (min:0, max: 10%) Dotter handle Material Depth (W) Depth (W) Depth (W) Distance measured from the window to wall Depth (W) Depth (W) Depth (W) Distance measured from the window to wall Sill sope in % (min:0, max: 10%) Dotter handle Material Depth (W) Depth (W) Distance measured from the window to wall Sill sope in % (min:0, max: 10%) Distance measured from the floor plan in 1:20	Main parameters				Redraw	
Reveal, void, niche Basic geometry Duter handle Interior and exterior sills Buit-in details Depti (W) Distance measured from the window to wall 20 mm Extension Depti (W) Distance measured from the window to wall Sill biologie in % (min:0, max: 10%) Distance measured from the window to wall Sill biope in % (min:0, max: 10%) Dotter fame twistle on the floor plan in 1:20	Representation	Sill nosing (D)	20 mm			
Reveal, Vold, hone Basic geometry Duter handle Sill thickness (H) Extension Sill slope in % (min:0, max:10%) South in details Profile cross-section Extension Detance measured from the window to wall Sill thickness (H) Extension Sill slope in % (min:0, max:10%) Detance measured from the window to wall Detance measured from the window to wall Detance measured from the window to wall Sill thickness (H) Extension Sill thickness (H) Sill sope in % (min:0, max:10%) Office Sill sare visible on the floor plan in 1:20	Nerved routed at the	Depth (W)	320 mm			
sil thickness (H) 20 mm Extension 40 mm Sil slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 5.00008% Material Wood-paidao interior and exterior sill Profile cross-section Edit Sil nosing (D) 20 mm Depth (W) 120 mm Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sil thickness (H) 20 mm Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sil slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Material Sils are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 Exterior sill Reference points	eveal, void, niche	Distance measured from the window to wall	211 mm			
uter handle Extension 40 mm ner handle Sil slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 5.000008% Material Wood-paldao interior and exterior sill Profile cross-section Edit Profile cross-section Edit Depth (W) 120 mm Depth (W) 120 mm Sill spe in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Material Wood-paldao Sill spe in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Sill spe in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Sill sare visible on the floor plan in 1:20 V	asic geometry	Sill thickness (H)	20 mm			
Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 5.000008% Material Wood-paldace interior and exterior sills Profile cross-section ialt-in details Depth (W) Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Depth (W) 120 mm Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Sill stare visible on the floor plan in 1:20 V Exterior sill Interior sill Reference points Interior sill	uter handle	Extension	40 mm			118
Material Wood-paldao Cessories terior and exterior sill Profile cross-section Edit Profile cross-section Edit Profile cross-section Edit Depth (W) Depth (W) Depth (W) Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Sill sope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 ✓	1 11	Sill slope in % (min:0, max:10%)	5.00008%			
iterior and exterior sill Interior sill Profile cross-section Edit iltin details Profile cross-section Edit Depth (W) 120 mm Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill hickness (H) 20 mm Extension 40 mm Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Material Wood-paidao Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 V Exterior sill Interior sill Reference points Didded frame ty equal	ner nandle	Material	Wood-paldao			
Iterior and exterior sills Profile cross-section Edit ill in details Sill nosing (D) 20 mm Depth (W) 120 mm Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill stances (H) 20 mm Sill stances (H) 20 mm Sill stance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill stance measured from the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the window to wall 00 mm Sill stance in the floor plan in 1:20 v Extension stance Reference points Didded frame ty equal	cessories	✓ Interior sill				
it in details It in details	terior and exterior sills	Profile cross-section	Edit			
it's in details Depth (W) 120 mm Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill thickness (+) 20 mm Extension 40 mm Sill sope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Materia Wood-paidso Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 V Exterior sill Interior sill Reference points Didded frame ty equal	terior and exterior sins	Sill nosing (D)	20 mm			
Distance measured from the window to wall 100 mm Sill thickness (H) 20 mm Extension 40 mm Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Material Wood-paldao Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20	ilt-in details	Depth (W)	120 mm			
Sill thickness (H) 20 mm Extension 40 mm Sill slope in % (min:0, max:10%) 0% Material Wood-paidso Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 Exterior sill Interior sill Reference points		Distance measured from the window to wall	100 mm			
Extension 40 mm Sill slope in % (min:0, max: 10%) 0% Materia Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 Exterior sill Reference points		Sill thickness (H)	20 mm			8 E SI
Sill slope in % (min:0, max:10%) 0% Material Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 Exterior sill Reference points Divided frame 1v equal		Extension	40 mm			
Material Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20 Exterior sill Reference points Didded frame ty equal		Sill slope in % (min:0, max:10%)	0%			
Sils are visible on the floor plan in 1:20		Material	Wood-paldao			
Exterior sill Reference points		Sills are visible on the floor plan in 1:20		~		
Reference points Divided frame ty equal		Exterior sill Inte	rior sill			
		Reference point:	8		Divided frame 1x equal	

• Close the dialog window with **OK**.

Now you can draw the windows on the DWG with the right properties.

• Select the Ribbon bar / Window / Window by two points command.



• Select two corner points of the window by clicking on the inner side of the wall.



• Place all other windows following these steps.

Good to know: You can change the interior and exterior material of the window separately.

- Select any window in the house.
- You can now change the material settings in the Window settings / Main parameters / Material option.
- Select the "Wood-walnutciaro" material as Internal frame material.
- You can immediately see the changes on the 3D model on the right side.

Main parameters Width:		1000 mm	~	Redraw	٧
Representation Height:		2100 mm	~		٦
Reveal, void, niche Thickness:		110 mm			
Basic geometry					
Outer handle Hide ope	ening and make a void				
Inner handle Distance fro	m wall line 100 mm				_
Sill height	0 mm				_
Accessories Outer si	ll height: 0 mm				_
Interior and exterior sills Colour					_
Line type		Simple Line	~		1
Built-in details Line weights	s 0 mm		~		_
Draw Order	8 - Bottom-mos	t	~		1
Reference a	xis Side		~		_
Distance fro	m wall corner 900 mm				1
	Lining a	nd architrave			1
	Dimension	, consignment			1
	Therma	parameters			1
Ratio (Illumi	nation area) 100%	·			1
Ratio (Venti	llation area) 100%				
Material	Value	1			
Solid	Color_A01				1
Glass mate	rial Glass26				- 1
External fra	me material Default materia	1			- 1
Internal fra	me material Wood-walnut				1
				Divided frame 1x equal	
BIM Parameters	No style			OK Cancel	

1.4.3. Place two windows as corner window

Any combination of standard windows can be joined in a corner window.

To create a corner window place two windows on each side of a corner where two walls form a corner.

Using the Join two openings on wall corner command from the Ribbon bar / Building / Window / Windows on wall corner menu then select the first and second window with one click.





ARCHLine.XP automatically creates the corner post between two windows.

• Change its material "Wood-paldao": Go to the properties, Built-in details tab and modify the Body material.

Finally, modify the width of the two joining corner windows to match the original drawing.

- Select one of the windows.
- Click on the blue dot corner marker and select the Change size command.
- Adjust size and snap it to the original drawing content.
- Repeat these with the other window.



The result looks like this when all the openings are completed:



1.4.4. Slab tool - Creating the flooring

When we have finished drawing walls, let's continue the work with placing a slab. First, we need to set up the settings we will work with.

- Before we create the slab, go to the **Ribbon Bar / Building / Properties / Structure / Slab** tool, and here we can find all the settings of the slab.
- We need to modify the material of the slab. Choose a new material as the top material of the slab by clicking on the first material button.
- In the appearing dialog, you can see the material library with the current project materials (used in this project until now) and you can also access all the materials on this computer. Click on the Home button and find the "Parquet / Strips" material category. Find a material, for example "parquet_rovere_03", click on it and click OK to select it.
- The second material button is defining the side material of the slab. Click on it to change.
- Click on the Home button in the material library and type "bright" in the search field and hit Enter.
- Select the "Bright_white" material and click OK.
- Close the slab properties dialog window also with OK.

Now that the settings are okay, we can start creating the slab.

- Activate the floor plan window.
- Select the Ribbon Bar / Building / Slab / Slab by walls command.



- Select the floor plan with the selection rectangle.
- Press Enter and the slab is ready.



1.4.5. Slab tool - Creating a terrace

In the next step we will create a terrace with the slab tool.

- First of all, enter the Layer manager dialog window and activate the "Slab(1)" layer. Now we see the line of the terrace on the left side (1) and the ramp in front of the entrance (2).
- Draw a slab on the left side with the Ribbon bar / Building / Slab / Slab in Sketch mode command.



- Choose the created slab by clicking on it.
- Find the Properties at the left side and select "Prefab concrete" as the new top and side material of the slab and "White ceiling" as the bottom material.



1.4.6. Creating a ramp

We create a ramp in front of the entrance by using the dedicated Ramp tool.

• Using the Ramp command from the **Ribbon bar / Building / Ramp** command list, then choose "**Straight run**" from the Straight category.



26 Part 1: Building design



• Place the ramp by specifying the bottom (1) and top (2) points.



- Click on the ramp, then choose the marker in the middle near to the Move marker. The Elevation value window is appearing.
- We know the top and the bottom values: the top value is 0 mm, this is the ground floor and the bottom value is -300 mm.
 First set the 2nd option: "Base level is fixed, inclination angle or top level is editable" option (1), then add the top values (2):

Elevation value	2	
Horizontal Base level is fixed, inclination angle or top level is editable Top level is fixed, inclination angle or base level is editable Definition of base level and top level, inclination fixed	Slope 0%	
	2 Top 0 mm	
	Bottom 0 mm	
	Height 456.1 mm	
	OK Cancel	

• Next set the 3rd option: "**Top level is fixed, inclination angle or top level is editable**" option (3), then add the bottom values (4):

Elevation value		x
Horizontal Base level is fixed, inclination angle or top level is editable Top level is fixed, inclination angle or base level is editable Definition of base level and top level, inclination fixed	Slope 5.26176%	%
	Top 0 mm	
	4 Bottom -300	
Α.	Height 456.1 mm	
	OK Cano	el

- Close the dialog window with OK.
- Now modify the width of the ramp.
- Click on the ramp in the floor plan window and select the Offset command to place it to the right place.



Insert four additional nodes into the top contour of the ramp and snap them to the corners of the bay window.
Click on the top edge of the selected ramp and select the **Insert node** command.



• Snap the new node to an external corner point of the bay window.



• Repeat the same method on the other side. Click on the edge and select **Insert node**, then snap it to the following corner point.



• Add the 3rd node.





• Repeat this method on the other side too, in order to add the 4th node.



Finally, modify the material of the ramp from the material library.

- Click on the ramp, and choose the pencil icon from the appearing menu.
- In the Properties dialog window modify the "Waist slab material" to "Concrete3".

Kamp			
Concrete	ramp		
Property		Value	
â General		·	
Layer		Stair	~
Colour			
Line type		Simple Line	~
Line weights		0 mm	~
Draw Order		8 - Bottom-most	~
Move objects to other floor		Ground floor	
Copy objects to other floor		Ground floor	
BIM parameters		Edit	
BIM name			
% Slope	\sim	8%	~
Connection to the bottom	slab		
🛃 Vertical			~
Waist slab depth		100 mm	
Waist slab height		100 mm	
🖄 Visible in 3D			
✓ 3D creation			
Waist slab material		Concrete3	
Thickness		300 mm	
Railing		ļ	

The result:





1.5. Multi-layer walls

In ARCHLine.XP you can create multi-layer walls. Let's add a thermal insulation layer to the existing walls.

- Select an external wall. Enter its properties and click on the Edit Compound Walls button.
- In the appearing dialog you can edit the layers of the wall.
- Add a new layer by clicking on the green plus icon.
- Change the top layer's thickness to 100 mm and its material to Thermal isolation.
- Click on the name of the fill pattern and select the edit option to change the pattern. In the appearing dialog click on the pattern's name and select Thermo-isolation. Click OK to accept the settings.

Edit Com	pound Walls															x
Total thid U-value:	kness 0.34 W/(m2*K)		400 mm													
				Finis	h Face: Exterior					Lay	ers in existing or	demolished	phas	es		\sim
Layer	Function		Material	Thickness	Base offset		Height		Fill pattern		Name	Layer en	di	Visib	Phase	
1	1 - Very low	\sim	📕 Thermal Iso	100 mm	TS 0 mm	\sim	(1) BS 0 mm	\sim	Thermo-iso	•	/	Prev	\sim		Existing	\sim
2<	1 - Very low		Brick3	300 mm	TS 0 mm		(1) BS 0 mm		Stonewall		_	Previous		\checkmark	Existing	
				Finis	sh Face: Interior						Laverline	properties				
				1	+ ×	4	- <u>A</u> 11	I	the state	L.	Col Line we	ight	F	****	<u> </u>	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$
	there exists to the D		ult eniestation in Orien					-1		1	0 mm		E	X7	/	7
	item onentation: D	era	uit orientation is Orien	it to view. You ca	an change to Align	witt	Lement, it stays	aligi	ned to the Wall					3⁄		
	on of layers with th	ie sa liffor	ime priority, too	eichte										8,	//_	
	layer endings	inter	ence of materials of r	leights									2	8⁄_		
											OK			С	ancel	



• Select the bottom layer, change its function to Core layer and click on the Displayed layer button.

Edit Com	pound Walls												x
Total thid U-value:	kness 0.34 W/(m2*K)	400 mm											
			Fini	sh Face: Exterior				L	ayers in existing or	demolished phas	ses		\sim
Layer	Function	Material	Thickness	Base offset		Height	Fill pattern		Name	Layer endi	Visib	Phase	
1	1 - Very low	Thermal Iso	100 mm	TS 0 mm		(1) BS 0 mm	Thermo-isolatio	on		Next layer line	\checkmark	Existing	
2<	Core layer	🗸 🧱 Brick3	300 mm	TS 0 mm	\sim	(1) BS 0 mm 🗸 🗸	Stonewall		\sim	Next ~		Existing	~
			5										
				sin ace, intenor				_	Layer line	e properties			
			1	+ ×	4	- AL 10	die 1		L. Col Line w	eight	300	<u> </u>	
🗹 Fill pat	ttern orientation: De	fault orientation is Orien	t to View. You c	an change to Align	with	h Element, it stays alig	ned to the wall	Ľ			X/ K	_ / /	1
Collisio	on of layers with the	same priority, too									X		
Collisio	on of layers upon dif	ference of materials or h	neights								× K	$//\square$	
Apply	layer endings							L			X/		
								Г	OK		c	ancel	

• Exit all dialogs by clicking on OK.



• Select the wall and copy its settings to all external walls with the Copy properties button. In the appearing window select all properties, then select all the external walls on the floor plan.



Resize the void of the corner windows to make the wall disappear from the corner. Repeat this step on both corner windows.





The result is the following:



1.6. Stairs

1.6.1. Placing stairs

• Activate the floor plan window, and make sure that the Ground floor is active.

We will design a staircase on this floor:

- Open the **Ribbon bar / Building / Stair** command list. Here you can find tools for creating and editing stairs.
- Start the Building / Stair / L form + Landing command.

When you start the command, the Properties panel on the left displays all the previously saved styles. You can use these styles too.



- Before placing the stair, choose the "**Right side**" option from the appearing option list on the right-hand side to place the stair with a reference line on the right side.
- Place the staircase with 3 corner points.

1.6.2. Modifying properties of the previously placed staircase

When you have placed the staircase, modify its properties. To do this, click on any points of it, and select the pencil icon from the floating menu.

• Now the Stair dialog window will appear. Set the following values on the Stair Calculator tab:

Properties		Ф	×
[Normal stair]	Ø.
Style			
🔀 Concrete sta	ir - steps and riser		
쭏 Concrete sta	ir - steps only		
∕≪Normal stair			
🖂 Normal stair	+ annotation		
🔀 Wooden stai	- steps and riser		
🐸 Wooden stai	- steps only		



Stair		×
Preferences 	Step properties f = 3000 mm $f = 3000 mm$ $f = 4000 mm$ $f = 4000 mm$	Regenerate Take the floor height Min Max 600 m 640 m 2 260 m 370 m
< >	$ \begin{array}{c} & & h = 187.5 \text{ mm} \\ \hline \\ & & \\ \hline \\ & & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ &$	140 m 190 m 3 n2 = 13 4
	Step geometry	50 % 8
BIM Parameters	90° 7 Normal stair	Rise/Tread 5/8

• And set the following values on the Support tab:

Stair							
Preferences	Support						
General properties	Elevation		0 mm				
- Step geometry 	✓ 3D creation						
Representation on th	Cut the walls		No cutting	\sim			
	Waist slab material		Bright_white				
< >	Construct the landir	ng like a slab					
	Waist slab	Thickness	150 mm				
	✓ Stair stringer						
		The stair stringer doesn't dis	play on the floor plan in print				
		Position	Middle	~			
	Middle						
		Style	Middle stringer stair support - Basic	× 1			
		Offset from stair side	Right stringer stair support - Simple L				
	Right side		- Middle stringer stair support - Basic				
		Style	···· Right stringer stair support - Simple	\sim			
			Middle stringer stair support - Simple T				
	Connection to the upp	oer slab	- Middle stringer stair support - Cantiever	\sim			
	A: 100 mm B: 100) mm	- Left stringer stair support - Cantilever				
	Connection to the bot	tom slab	- Left stringer stair support - Simple				
	A: 100 mm B: 100	0 mm D: 150 mm E: 2	00 mm C: 300 mm				
BIM Parameters	Normal sta	air 💫 🖓	ОК	Cancel			

• Floor height (1): Activate the Take the floor height option and this value will be automatically overwritten as per the project to 3000 mm.

Ergonomic settings (2)

These values are not to be changed now - they are automatically calculated based on the height and the number of steps of the staircase. The staircase is considered ergonomic when these values are falling within the right side, indicated minimum and maximum standard values. If a value exceeds the limits, the software indicates that with a red highlight. However, even in case of a non-ergonomic stair the software allows the placement and leaves the decision to the designer whether it is to be changed or not.

Number of the steps (3)

The number of steps are calculated based on the values of n1 and n 2.

- n1, n2 (4): In case of a winded stair, the values of n1, n2 define the number of non-winded steps on the straight side. n1 is 3 and n2 is 13.
- Width (5): use 1200 mm.

Architectural Tutorial

Side parameters (6)

These two values show the length on each sides of the staircase.

Rounding radius (7)

This can be found at the bottom. We do not change it this time and it results in a sharp corner with no rounding.

Walking line

Now it is 50%, which is in the middle of the staircase.

• Select the Support tab and modify the Cut the walls option to "Own floor". This way the stair will cut the wall below it.

Stair				
Preferences	Support			
- Stair Calculator	oupport			
General properties				^
- Step geometry	Stair stringer			
- Railing		The stair stringer doesn't dis	play on the floor plan in print	
Representation on th		Position	Middle	
	Middle			
< >		Style	Middle stringer stair support - Basic	
	Distance in the	Uffset from stair side	0 mm	
	Right side	ch la	Right dringer dair gunnet Cimple I	
		Style		
	L d Turned	Uffset from stair side	urred	
	✓ Tread	Material Nocina donth	20 mm	
		Troad thicknoor	40 mm	
	Ricor board	Picer board material	Wood66	
		Riser board thicknose	20 mm	
		Riser bodru unckness	20 1111	×
	Connection to the upp	er slab		
				~
	A: 100 mm B: 100	mm	C: 300 mm	
	Connection to the bot	tom slab		
				~
	A: 100 mm B: 100	mm D: 150 mm E: 20	00 mm C: 300 mm	
BIM Parameters	Normal sta	ir Ko Cil	ОК	Cancel

- Finally, scroll down in the support tab to modify the material of the **Tread**. Choose the same material that you used for the door: "**Wood-paldao**".
- When you finished the settings, close the dialog window by pressing **OK**. Now the program creates the staircase with the modified parameters.
- Change to the 3D window, right click on the wall next to the stairs and choose the **Isolate / Hide this object** option. Repeat this step with the door too.

Connection Create wall recess	
Tiling →	
Opening > Reshape > Orientation >	
Accessories >	
Workplane	
Show on floor plan	
lsolate >	Hide this object
Layer	Show on floor plan



٠



You can create stairs with several types of support. To change the support click on the regenerate button and choose the "Middle stringer stair support – Simple T". Now click on "OK".

Preferences	Support	
 Stair Calculator General properties 		/
Support Step geometry Railing	Elevation 0 mm	
	✓ 3D creation	
Representation on	Cut the walls No cutting	\sim
	Waist slab material Bright_white	
C 2	Construct the landing like a slab	
	Waist slab Thickness 150 mm	
	Stair stringer	
	The stair stringer doesn't display on the floor plan in print	
	Position	\sim
	Middle 🗸 Regenerate	
	Style Middle stringer stair support - Simple T	\sim
	Offset from stair side Right stringer stair support - Simple L	
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Right side	
	Style Right stringer stair support - Simple	
	Middle stringer stair support - Simple T	-
	Connection to the upper slab Right stringer stair support - Cantilever	
	A: 100 mm B: 100 mm – Left stringer stair support – Cantilever	
	Left stringer stair support - Simple	-
	Connection to the bottom slab	
	1 100 mm D: 100 mm D: 150 mm D: 200 mm	
	A: 100 mm B: 100 mm D: 150 mm E: 200 mm C: 300 mm	
	A: 100 mm B: 100 mm D: 150 mm E: 200 mm C: 300 mm	

As a result, the support of the stairs changes:


• Now select the following options in the support tab:

Stair								
Preferences	Support							
General properties				^				
Support	Elevation		0 mm					
- Step geometry	✓ 3D creation							
Representation on th	Cut the walls		No cutting	~				
	Waist slab material		Bright_white					
< >>	Construct the land	ling like a slab						
	🗸 Waist slab	Thickness	150 mm					
	Stair stringer							
	✓ Tread	Material	Wood-paldao					
		Nosing depth	20 mm					
		Tread thickness	40 mm					
	Riser board	Riser board material	Wood66					
		Riser board thickness	20 mm					
		Angle of riser board from the	0°					
	Support	Support material	Wood66	~				
	Connection to the up	per slab						
	A: 100 mm B: 10	0 mm	C: 300 mm					
	Connection to the bo	ttom slab						
	A: 100 mm B: 10	0 mm D: 150 mm E: 20	00 mm C: 300 mm					
BIM Parameters	Normal s	tair 💫 🖓	ОК	Cancel				





Click on the "Quick 3D model" hammer to update the wall-stair connection.
Now select the support tab again and select the Cut the walls / Own floor option and click on the hammer sign again.

Stair				
Preferences	Support			
- Stair Calculator				
Support	Elevation		0 mm	
Step geometry	3D creation		•	
Representation on th	Cut the walls		Own floor	~
	Waist slab material	·,	Bright_white	
< >	Construct the land	ling like a slab		
	✓ Waist slab	Thickness	150 mm	
	Stair stringer	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	✓ Tread	Material	Wood-paldao	
		Nosing depth	20 mm	
		Tread thickness	40 mm	
	Riser board	Riser board material	Wood66	
		KISER DOARD THICKNESS	20 mm	
	Support	Support material	Wood66	
	odbhoir	Support material		×
	Connection to the up	oper slab		
	A: 100 mm B: 10	00 mm	C: 300 mm	ľ – ľ
	Connection to the bo	ottom slab		
	A: 100 mm B: 10	00 mm D: 150 mm E: 2	00 mm C: 300 mm	
BIM Parameters	Normal s	stair 💫 🖓	ОК	Cancel

Good to know: You can change the tilt of the riser board.

- In the stairs settings select the support tab and activate the riser board option.
- Change the Angle of riser board from the vertical degree to the desired value.



1.7. Working on an additional floor

ARCHLine.XP automatically creates several floors when the project is first created. You can create or import content on any of these floors. These floors are ready-made for you to use and of course you can fully customize, rename or erase them and you can add as many floors as necessary to create your building structure.

In our project we need to draw another floorplan, too. We will follow these 2 tasks to create the 1st floor's content:

- Copy content from the Ground floor to the 1st floor.
- Customize the architectural items of the 1st floor to match the desired floorplan.

1.7.1. Copy content from one floor to the other

To speed up your work, it is very useful to know that you can easily copy or move things onto other floors.

- Use the floor navigator buttons at the bottom of the screen to navigate to the "Ground floor". (Alternatively, you can use the Page Up and Page Down keys too.).
- Select the entire floor plan in the Ground floor then open the Edit levels dialog window by with clicking on the Ground floor button at the bottom of the screen.





40 Part 1: Building design

In the list there are 4 floors now. The currently active floor is the Ground floor. These floors are automatically created by the software by default, every time you start a new project.

<hr/>	À 🥪 😂 🤜				🔒 😝 L	ist of buildings
Num	Name	Bottom eleva	Height	State	Level increment	Parameters
3	2. floor	6000 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm	
2	1. floor	3000 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm	
1	Ground floor	0 mm	3000 mm	Active	0 mm	Edit
0	Basement	-3000 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm	

• Click on "Copy objects to other floor" icon.

Edit leve	els					
<hr/>	🖌 🥪 🛸 🤜				(3)⇒ □	ist of buildings
Num	Name	Bottom eleva	Height	State	Level increment	Parameters
3	2. floor	6000 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm	
2	1. floor	3000 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm	
1	Ground floor	0 mm	3000 mm	Active	0 mm	Edit
0	Basement	-3000 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm	

• In the appearing dialog window, select the **First floor**. Press the **OK** to copy the selected items.

Select floors		x
Numbering 3 2 0	Name 2. floor 1. floor Basement	Pseudo Copies Full copy Rectangle profile Polygon profile OK Cancel

In the 3D window you can see that the full content of the ground floor is copied to the upper floor as well.

1.7.2. Customizing the content of the 1. floor

Now we will customize the **content of the 1. floor** by removing unnecessary partition walls and openings and create new ones.

• Select and erase the partition walls, the entrance door and the stair from the First floor's content.

Activate the 3D view and check the connection of the two floors. The insulation layers have a gap in the place of the slab. Let's select a wall on the first floor and edit the insulation layer's base height.

- Click on the pencil icon after selecting the wall then click on the Edit Compound Walls button. Now you can edit the layers
 individually.
- Select the Thermal isolation layer and click on the Base offset / Edit button.
- In the appearing dialog change the settings to BS- Bottom of Structure

all - upper level		Γ		
Top Bound	BS - Bottom of Structure	~		
Story	(Current + 1)	\sim	T	(N+1) (N+1)
Top Offset	0 mm			(N+1)
Nominal Height	3000 mm		FH -	(N+1) (N) (N)
all - lower level				
Bottom Bound	BS - Bottom of Structure	~		(N) T
Bottom Offset	0 mm		_	(N) B
Base Elevation	-300 mm			(N) L

• Copy this wall's settings to all external walls on the first floor.

Setting up the correct display of the staircase

In order to show the staircase properly on both the floor plan and on the 3D, we have to modify the 2D symbol. This is how we do it:

- Create the stair symbol on the first floor. Go to the ground floor and right click on the stair.
- Select the Cut slabs above the stair command. In the 3D view you can see that the slab has been cut above the stair.
- Go to the first floor and adjust the contour of the cut by clicking on the contour line.
- Select the offset option and create a rectangle shape from the original cut. Delete the extra node on the rectangle.



• Go to the ground floor and in the stair's properties go to the Representation on the floor above tab and activate the Representation on the floor above option. Set the section line to No section line and change the layer to Stair.



Stair				
Preferences Stair Calculator	Representation on the floor above	2		Regenerate
General properties Support		0 mm ~	/ 🗲	Stair 🗸
···· Step geometry ···· Railing	Simple Line		. <mark>17</mark> 0	8 - Bottom-most \checkmark
Representation on t	Nosing:			Nosing line-type
	Along the stair	~	/	Szaggatott1
	Section line - Wavy		_	Partial line-type:
	No section line	~	1	Szaggatott
	Cutting elevation	1 m		4
	Cutting line direction	20 °		+•
	Parallel distance	100 mm		
	Draw walking line			Show geometry text
	Cut out landings on walking line			Text on walking line
	Walking line before landing			Numbering (50% of current font size)
	Walking line backward			
,	Arrow fit the box			1.
BIM Parameters	Normál lépcső			OK Cancel

- Go to the first floor and edit the 2D symbol of the stair's first floor representation.
- Click on the blue rectangle icon and select the Edit group option.



- Delete the parts of the stair symbol that should not be visible.
- To exit the editor, right click on any of the lines and select the Close group option.



Good to know

You can create the upstairs stair symbol by the following steps too.

- Copy the stair from the ground floor.
- Go in the properties of this stair and on the Support tab disable the 3D creation option and set the cut the walls to No cutting.
- On the General properties tab set the drop down menu to No section line.
- Now edit the floor plan symbol the same way as described above.

Drawing the partition walls on the first floor

Now we will draw the partition walls on the 1. floor. To do this, you will find the description below.

• The floor plan should look like this now:





- Let's start from the bottom, create the bedroom and the bathroom above the entrance.
- Click on the Building / Wall command and select the 1 layered 10 wide wall style on the left side of the screen.
- First, connect Points 1 and 2. When you start drawing the wall, change the reference line to the left side on the ribbon bar.
- Press SHIFT to align the wall to the other wall.



• When you are ready with it, connect points 3 and 4 the same way as before. Make sure to change back the reference line to the right side of the wall. Finally, connect the wall to point 5.





- Right click and select the Last command option. Now the wall drawing command is active again.
- Let's start from the top left corner of the building. Before you start drawing the wall, click on the Reference point button in the bottom of the screen.



Click in the top left corner of the wall and start moving the mouse to the right. Type in 1660 mm and hit Enter. Now start
drawing the wall downward, type in 1600 mm to get the right length. Continue drawing the wall to the right, type in 2700
mm and then connect it to the exterior wall next to the window.



- Activate the Wall command and then the Reference point command. Click in the top right corner of the building (Point 6) and move the mouse South 4620 mm (Point 7). Draw the wall to the opposite side (Point 8).
- Click in the middle of this new wall (Point 9) and change the reference line to be in the center. Connect it to the wall on the
 opposite side (Point 10).



Adding doors to the building

The walls are ready, it is time to place the doors on the 1. floor. Let's have a look at how:

- Go to the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Opening / Door command to open the Door dialog.
- Click on the name of the door under the preview and search the "Flush" door.
- Change the Distance from wall line to 0 mm. Click OK to close the dialog.

Now all properties are set, let's place the doors:

- Activate the floor plan and click on the Ribbon bar / Building / Door / Placing door command.
- Move the mouse over a wall and you will instantly see how the door will be placed.
- Place the doors as shown in the picture below:



Architectural Tutorial

- Now place the doors in the other bedroom.
- Place one door 800 mm from the top right corner. To do this, move the mouse over the wall, the door will appear in orange, then type in 800 mm and the door will be placed exactly at the right place.



• Place the last door on the master bedroom's bathroom wall in the corner.

Modifying windows

There are two extra windows on this floor, sharing the same design with the rest of the windows except with different sizes. They will be placed in the two bathrooms. Let's learn a new method to create a new window based on an existing one with the Create similar command.

- Select one of the windows on the North side of the house and click on one of the blue dots. Select the Move a copy command. On the Ribbon bar click on the Next reference point button to move the reference point in the middle of the window. Move the window on this wall until it snaps to the middle of the wall and place it.
- Go in the properties of the window and change the width to 700 mm, the height to 1200 mm and the sill height to 900 mm. Click OK to accept the changes.
- Select the window again and click on the Create similar command from the context menu by clicking on the black arrowhead in the appearing floating menu. Place the window in the middle of the other bathroom's wall.

This is how the 1. floor should look like at this point:





Making flat roofs and balconies

Let's create a balcony with the Slab in Sketch mode command.

- Go to the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Structure / Slab menu.
- In the Slab dialog change the material to "Bright_white" and then chain all 3 materials together. Click OK to accept the changes.

Bright_white	
Bright_white	¢
Bright_white	

- After starting the command, draw the contour of the left balcony using Slab in Sketch mode command. Start it from the corner, its width is 1500 mm, its length is 3500 mm.
- Hit Enter to finish the balcony.



Let's create the flat roof above the driveway.

- Go in the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Structure / Slab command.
- In the Slab properties dialog modify its Material to "Concrete3", its Base Elevation to -300 mm and its Height to -100 mm.
- Start the Slab in Sketch mode command and start drawing the flat roof. Its depth is 1850 mm, its width is 4022 mm.



- Enter the Slab properties dialog again and change the Base offset from the floor to -200 mm and the material to "Bright_white".
- Start the Slab in Sketch mode command and draw the second layer of the flat roof in the same place as before.
- Select the slab on the floor plan, but make sure to select the right one. Change between the items in the floating menu
 with the left and right arrows.



- Click on the side of the selected slab and select the Offset option and offset 3 sides with 100 mm.
- On the top side insert new nodes on both sides of the slab to the wall corner.
- With the offset command move the edges upwards till it hits the wall.







1.8. Creating railings

On the first floor we have a terrace on the left side. We will create a railing here. Before we place the railing select a railing style.

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Building / Railing / Railing command.
- In the left-hand side, activate the "Metal railings with glass left" style.



- Trace the contour of the slab.
- When you are done, press the Enter key on the keyboard twice.
- Activate the 3D window.
- Click on the railing and raise its position by 800 mm: Click on the blue arrowhead, select the Move command and move the content upwards. Type in 800 and hit the Enter key on the keyboard.

Finally, modify the glass material on the railing – this time we learn a new method.

- Make sure nothing is selected on the drawing and click in the Design center search bar and type in "Blue glass".
- Select a glass material (for example "Blue glass 02" and click and drag it into the model.
- Release the mouse button over the glass of the railing and choose the "Replacing one material with another on this object" command.
- Click on the glass surface of the railing to change it to "Blue glass 02".
- Hit ESC to close the material replacement command.



The railing is done on the balcony.

51

Let's create now the stair's railing. This time we will use columns as railing. To do this we need to create saved views.

• Activate the 3D view and click on the Eye icon on the Navibar.



In the appearing dialog you can set the views you need. Create one view that looks at the stair from the front, and one that looks from the back. Save the views with the icon. Double click on the name to rename them "Livingroom_01" and "Livingroom_02".



- Go to the Gorund floor view and click on the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Structure / Column command.
- In the dialog set the width to 50 mm, the height to 100 mm, the materials to "Wood-paldao", the height of the column to 5100 mm, the base offset from the floor to 675 mm. Disable the Slab-roof cutting option.
- Place one column in the marked position.
- Select the column and click on the move button on the floating menu. Now select the Multiply command.
- In the appearing dialog set 12 copies and click OK.
- Set the reference point of the column, which should be the bottom left corner.
- Move the mouse to the last column mark and place the copies in the appropriate place.





Let's change the material of the ramp in front of the house the same way as we changed the material of the railing glass.



1.9. Roof

The ARCHLine.XP Roof toolset offers powerful solutions to design roof structures on a professional level should it be a simple conceptual or a highly detailed plan. The type of structure is not limited as you can design archaic, modern wooden or even steel structure. Everything you design is parametric and flexible, allowing designers to shape these complex items all through the design process just as the current status of project demands.

In this paragraph, we will create a simple conceptual roof. Through this example you will learn and understand the following concepts:

- Designing a roof
- Reshape an existing roof
- Working with roof planes and editing roof pitch
- Setting up roof materials and simple details
- Making connections to other architectural items

1.9.1. Creating the loft floor

Before we actually create the roof structure itself, let's create a closing slab structure above the 1st Floor. There are many ways to create slabs; this time we will copy and change an existing one.

- Activate the floor named "1. floor".
- Select the floor slab following the outer contour of the floor plan.
- Click on the "1. floor" button of the "Copy objects to other floor" row in the Properties panel.
- Select "2. floor" in the appearing floor list and click OK.
- Click on the hole contour of the newly created slab on the 2nd floor and select the "Hole / Delete hole" command in the context menu.
- Change the top material of the slab to "Bright_white".
- Offset all sides of the slab with 100 mm to cover the insulation layer too.

Good to know: You can make other floors visible on the floor plan

- Click on the arrow next to the floor's name on the bottom bar.
- Now the floor structure of the project appears.
- Click on the light bulb icon next to the 1. floor to activate the visibility of the 1. floor.
- This way you can offset the sides without having to measure the thickness of the thermal insulation.

[2. floor 1. floor		
	 Ground floor Basement 		$\stackrel{\frown}{\longrightarrow}$
	∰² 2. floor	~	

Architectural Tutorial

To change the appearance of the inactive floor do the following:

- In the bottom left corner click on the settings icon and select Graphics / How to display visible but inactive floors
 option.
- You can choose from Replacement color, Half tone and Original colors.

Graphics						
Open and Save	* Workspace					
	2D Floor plan background colour					
J Units and angles	3D Image View background options	Edit				
Snap and grid	3D Vector Graphics background colour					
Construction of the second sec	Plot Layout background colour					
Cursor and marker	Section view background colour					
User interface	*How to display visible but inactive levels	Replacement color	~			
Item settings	*Inactive building or visible but inactive floor color	Replacement color				
	Selection colour	Half tone				
	Colour of elements outside of the editable group	Original colors				
	Colour of reference element in multi-selection					
	Active item's colour in dialog view					
	New component's colour in a dialog view					
	Design Center background colour					
	Project Navigator background colour					
	Long cross cursor					
	Set active view size in %	75	\sim			
	✓ Origin indicator					
	*Line caps	Fine	~			
	* Presentation settings					
	Graphics Engine	DirectX 11 mode	~			
	Max. raster image size (pixels)	Defined by the gra	\sim			
	Alert me if video drivers are older than recommended					
	* *Build 3D model					
	Keep 3D of this project updated					
	Keep Section views of this project updated					
	Wireframe colour is black					
	* *Drawing settings					
Class.	Opening scale	1:100				
1000						

Now that the closing slab structure is set up and done, we also need to change its contour to get the final shape.

- Select the slab.
- Click on the short horizontal contour line at the bottom of the slab drawing and select the "Offset" command in the appearing marker menu.
- Move it **750 mm downwards** to snap to the lowest horizontal edge.
- Use the same solution to move the right side short horizontal edge to perfectly snap to the lowest horizontal edge.



• Use the marker menu to erase the remaining 2 corner points on the newly created horizontal slab edge.





1.9.2. Designing the roof

ARCHLine.XP provides tools to create a roof structure either by selecting walls of an existing building to recognize its outer contour or you can also draw this contour by yourself. Either way, the roof can be reshaped, changed and redesigned completely at any time to add more details. This time we are creating a conceptual roof following the contour of the existing slab with only a few settings changed to understand the basics of the roof design process.

- Start the Ribbon bar / Building / Roof / Roof in sketch mode tool.
- Select the "Simple roof" style appearing on the left-hand side.
- By default, this tool is waiting for walls to be selected to recognize their outer contour. Now click on the **Polygon** option on the ribbon bar to switch to the manual contour design mode.
- Draw a polygon contour by clicking into each corner of the slab.

When you are finished drawing the closed contour, the roof property dialog appears. Let's make changes.

- Change both the bottom plane and side plane materials from Natural_pine to Bright_white.
- Change the Value "C" in the Reference point for roof elevation list to -300 mm.
- Go to the "Pitch and shape" page of the roof properties dialog window and enable the "Apply for all planes" option, then
 modify the pitch value from 42 degrees to 25 degrees. Click on the "Update" button on the right above the 3D
 preview to see the changes.
- Click on the roof plane marked nr.1. on the following image and change its pitch to 35 degrees and then click "Update" to see the changes.



- Use the same method to change the pitch of the plane marked nr.2 to 35 degrees.
- Click on **plane marked nr.3**. and tick the **Gable end** button to turn it into a gable end then the click "**Update**" to see the changes.
- Go to the "**Roof tiles**" page and under the "**Basic**" tiling page click on the paint bucket icon to change the current roof material from "Roof brown" to "**Roof_Blind_Coal**". If you cannot see this material in the list, just click on the button with the blue cross on it to get access to the Design center with all the materials.
- Click on the "Ridge" tiling page too and change the current material from "Roof brown" to "Roof_Blind_Coal".
- On the "Valley" tiling page select the "PANTONE-S325-3" material.
- Click **OK** to close the properties dialog and see the roof on the 2D layout and in the 3D view.



1.9.3. Changing the roof contour

All roof shapes created with the Automatic roof tool can be changed in shape and details when needed. This time we will move 2 edges to make space for a fire-wall separating our building from the rest of the building block.

- Select the roof in the 2D view.
- Click on the right-side edge and select the Offset command from the appearing marker menu.
- Move the edge to the left to perfectly snap to the wall's inner side.
- Do the same with the 2nd vertical edge of the roof on the right side.
- Hit ESC to deselect the roof.

Let's align the contour of the slab to the roof to finish the roof-slab connection.

- Select the slab.
- Click on an edge and select the "Offset" command in the appearing marker menu.
- Move the edge to snap to the roof edge.
- Repeat this all the slab edges not aligned with the roof outer contour.

1.9.4. Designing the fire-wall

Let's create the wall separating the two buildings. For this we will now copy an existing wall and change its properties and then we will redesign its shape to match the roof.

- Switch to the floor named "1. floor".
- Select the right-side wall of our building.
- Click on the "1. floor" button of the "Copy objects to other floor" row in the Properties panel.
- Select "2. floor" in the appearing floor list and click OK.
- Select the new wall on the 2nd floor and change its Height to 4500 mm and its Base elevation to -300 mm.
- Click on the endpoint marker of the wall and select the "Change length" command to snap it to the corner point of the slab.

The fire-wall is now just a regular wall with a straight horizontal top. Let's redesign its shape (the so-called frontal profile) to have a wall top that's following the pitch of the roof. First, we will take the current shape of the wall in context with the roof to use it as a basis to the design.

- Activate the 3D window.
- Click on the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Line command and select the surface of the wall on the roof's side.
- Click on the lower corner of the roof next to the fire-wall (1) and create the second point of the line close to the top of the roof (2). Repeat it on the other side of the roof (3, 4). Hit Enter to finish the line.





• Select the fire-wall and click on the 3D hammer icon to refresh the 3D view. Now only the wall and the lines are visible.



- Start the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Offset command and offset the lines upwards with the value of 300 mm.
- Connect the lines with the L connection command shown in the picture below. Delete the original lines that are not needed anymore.



• Start the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Push/Pull command and click on the wall over the line. By moving the mouse, you can now extend the selected part of the wall. Move it towards the outer side of the wall and click. Now the unnecessary part of the wall is deleted.



- Delete the lines from the 3D view.
- Right click on the white part of the wall and select the Find material option. Drag and drop the material on the wall and select the Replacing one material with another on this object option. Replace the brick and insulation materials on the top of the wall.
- To see the whole 3D model again, activate the floor plan, make sure nothing is selected and click on the 3D hammer button.



1.9.5. Designing the roof gutter

To create the gutter of a roof you can use the dedicated gutter tool.

- Start the Ribbon bar / Building / Roof / Gutter tool.
- Click on the left edge of the roof on the 2D drawing.
- In the appearing properties dialog window make sure the cross-section profile named "Gutter section profile 2" is selected.
- Change the Horizontal offset to 100 mm and the Vertical offset to -200 mm. These are matching the height of the selected gutter profile and half the width of it.
- Click on the paint bucket icon to change the material to Steel.





- Select the 2nd page named **Downspout**.
- Change Length to 5900 mm.
- Change the Position value appearing on the right side of the position slider to 5700 mm.
- Click on the **Green tick** to add the downspout.



- Add a 2nd downspout using the **Green plus** icon, this time using **7800 mm** measured **from the left** side.
- Click **OK** to create.



1.10. Importing objects - Solar panels

You can place solar panels on the roof by the new MEP function of the ARCHLine.XP.

- Activate the 3D view.
- Click on the Ribbon bar / Interior / 3D warehouse / Direct download command. A browser window appears where you can search and download elements from the store. You have to sign into your account to be able to download.
- Type "Dynamic Model: LSX Solar Module System w/LSX Rail SD in Landscape" and download the object into the project. Select the 2021 model.
- Click on the roof plane over the driveway to place the solar panel.
- Now set the tilt of the solar panel to 25° to fit the roof completely.



Select the solar panel in the 2D window, click on the move button and select the multiply option. Type in 3, click on OK
then move the cursor to the side and type in 3120.







1.11. Columns

In this project, columns are used for two different reasons. You can use columns to design the railing built from wooden columns next to the stairs, and you can also use this method for structural columns too.

1.11.1. Place structural columns outside

First of all, activate the column layers. Our exterior columns are made up of two parts.

Before you place the columns, go to the **Ribbon Bar / Building / Properties / Structure / Column** tool, and here you can find the all settings of the column.

• Select a profile from the library named *Rectangle Simple*.

		Visualization		
		Colour	Layer	
		Layer	Stair	\sim
		Line weights	Layer	\sim
		Line type	Layer	\sim
		Draw Order	8 - Bottom-most	~
		Hatch	Strip	
	-	Same materials		
		9 Solid material	Default material	
		Surface material	Default material	
		Constrains		
		Base offset from the floor	0 mm	~
	/	Height	2700 mm	~
		Angle of inclination	90°	
	4	Direction of inclination	0°	
		Rotation	0°	
		Insert into wall		
		Make only hole in the v	vall	
	Circle	Slab-roof cutting		
Profile	from Library	Structural properties	Column	~
		🛁 🎗 Other		
	Edit profile	Cuto	out - Recess - Attachment	
	Height:	2D not visible		
	300 mm	Show 3D		
		2D representation by 3D	top view	
			Exchange endings	
	4 Decemeters	No et de	01	

• Disable the "Uniform 3D scaling operation" option and set Width to 300 mm and Height to 200 mm.



Edit profile			x
¢	d1	Rectangle Simple	
		Mirror on X	
12	rā rī3	Mirror on Y	
		Rotate	
		Uniform 3D scaling operation	
d	<u>do</u>	Width: Height: 200 mr	n
Select Profile	Redraw		
Name	Value		
Height [1 - 100000 mm] Width [1 - 100000 mm]	200 300		
1			
1		OK	Cancel

- Set the Height of the column to 2700 mm and its Base offset from floor to -200 mm.
- Select Stonewall_048 as the material of the column.

Column				
		× Visualization		
		Colour	Layer	
		Laver	Stair	~
4	-11	∠ Line weights	Layer	~
,	Ľ,	Line type	Layer	~
		Draw Order	8 - Bottom-most	~
		Hatch	Strip	
	_	Same materials		
2	d'	Solid material	Stonewall_048	
		Surface material	Stonewall 048	
		☆ Constrains		
		Base offset from the floor	-200 mm	~
 	<u></u> 10		2700 mm	~
•		Angle of inclination	90°	
		Direction of inclination	0°	
		Rotation	0°	
		Insert into wall		
		Make only hole in the w	val	
rofile	Rectangle Simple	Slab-roof cutting		
	Drofilo from Library	Structural properties	Column	~
	Profile from Library	\$ Other		
	Edit profile	Cuto	ut - Recess - Attachment	
Vidth:	Height:	2D not visible		
300 mm	200 mm	Show 3D		
		2D representation by 3D	top view	
			Exchange endings	
	RIM Parameters	Na abda	OK	Connel

1.11.2. Column cutout, recess, attachment

Let's add an attachment to the top of the column.

• Click on the Cutout - Recess - Attachment button in the Column dialog.



• Insert a new item by clicking on the **Insert new** button.

Idex	Туре	Reference plane	Profile	Width	Height	Visibility	
	Cutout	✓ Front plane ✓	Circle	100 mm	100 mm	🗌 D	
Μ	Nove up	Move down	T	sert new		Delete	
15	love up	Hove down		isertnew		Delete	
F	Rotate	Mirror on X	M	lirror on Y	E	dit profile	
							^
tort of	attachmont/roco	on from the reference r		+ 0 m	m		
Thicknes	audonment/rece	ss from the reference p	olarie (>0: oc	50	mm		
Surface	material				Stonewall 048		
Material	of end plane				Stonewall 048		
Placemer	nt of profile refer	ence point:		1	_		
Position	in horizontal dire	tion, measured from:		Mid	dle	~	ĩ
Distance	from middle poin	t (>0: rightwards)		0 m	m		
osition	in vertical direction	on, measured from:		Bot	tom	~	1
Distance	e from bottom (>0): upwards)		0 m	m		~
	figures follow the	increase		A			
⊻ ine				¥			
Angle of	findination			90	, ,		

- Select Rectangle Simple from the profile library and select the middle bottom reference point of the profile.
- Modify the type to *Attachment*.

utout -	Recess - Attachm	ent					
Index	Туре	Reference plane	Profile	Width	Height	Visibility	Γ
1	Attachment 💊	Front plane	Recta	200 mm	100 mm	🗌 D	
M	love up	Move down	In	sert new		Delete	
F	Rotate	Mirror on X	Mi	rror on Y	E	dit profile	
							^
start of	attachment/recess	from the reference p	olane (>0: ou	t 0 mr	n		
Thicknes	s of attachment			50 n	nm		
Surface	material				Stonewall_048		
Material	of end plane				Stonewall_048		
lacemer	nt of profile referen	ice point:					1
Position	in horizontal direction	on, measured from:		Mide	le	~	l.
Distance from middle point (>0: rightwards)			0 mr	0 mm			
Position	in vertical direction,	measured from:		Bott	Bottom		
Distance	from bottom (>0: u	upwards)		0 m	n		
✓ The	ngures follow the in	icrease		000			
Angle of	inclination			an-			

- Set the start of the attachment from the reference plane to -150 mm and its thickness to 100 mm.
- Select "Concrete3" as the material of the attachment.
- Finally select *Top* for the position in the vertical direction to be measured from. Cutout - Recess - Attachment

utout - F	Recess - Attachm	ent						
Index	Туре	Reference plane	Profile	Width	Height	Visibility	Redraw	
L	Attachment ~	Front plane	Recta	200 mm	100 mm	D		
Mc	ove up	Move down Mirror on X	In	isert new	E	Delete dit profile		
tart of a	ttachment/recess	from the reference p	plane (>0: ou	t15	0			
Thickness	ofattachment			100)		Tat	
Surface material				Concrete3				
Material of end plane				Concrete3		A DECT		
Placemen	t of profile referen	ce point:						
Position ir	n horizontal directio	n, measured from:		Mid	dle	~		
Distance from middle point (>0: rightwards)			0 m	m				
Position ir	n vertical direction,	measured from:		Тор)	\sim		
Distance	from top (>0: dow	nwards)		0 m	m			
	igures follow the in	crease						
🗹 The fi								
✓ The fi Angle of i	nclination			90°			 	

- Close the dialogs.
- Activate the "Column(1)" layer then place three columns as seen on the DWG drawing.





2. Part: Documentation

Open the YouTube video: https://youtu.be/rQ2h75RInXc

2.1. Sections, elevations and views

Sections and elevations are all fundamental dynamic drawings. A dynamic drawing is linked to the building; thus it is able to respond to changes in your design. All the floorplans are dynamic drawings too, actually.

2.1.1. Sections

To define a section, start the **Ribbon bar / Documentation / Section / Section settings** command. A dialog appears in which you can specify the properties of the representation of the section in 2D and in 3D and the properties of the marker.

 Change the layer to Text, the representation mode to Image, the visual style to Consistent colour with wireframe and activate the section head.

Parameters	Value		
Representation in 2D			
Layer	Text	\sim	
Colour			
Line type	Dotted-dashed	~	
Line weights	0 mm	~	
Draw Order	8 - Bottom-most	~	
A Letter	None	~	
Style of texts	Arial 200	~	
A - O Arrow head on section line			
Arrow head not on section line			
Left visible			
Right visible			
- Other side visible			
Visible on all floors (More precisely in Floor dialog / Param			
Representation in 3D			
Representation mode	Image	\sim	
Vigual Style	Consistent colour with wireframe	~	
		Ť	
	0 mm		
Sector lower limit (relative to project zero)			
Zero deput section - 30 model benind the section line is n	1000		
Crop region. Depth:	1000 mm		
Enable grid lines			
Partial section - the section should end at the end of the			
Level annotation lines are visible			
Symbol at the end of level annotation lines	Edit		
Width of symbol	250 mm		
Style of floor level lines	Use style of section line	~	
Text style of level annotation line	Arial 200	~	
Hatch on section			
Hide all the objects			
Item types for applying section Line weight	Edit		
Section Line weight	0.3 mm		
Marker properties			
☑ Section head. Symbol for the start of a section cut	Section_head		
Width of symbol	250 mm		
Colour			
Line weights	0 mm	~	
Arrowhead size	200 mm	~	
😤 Arrowhead type	Arrow blank	~	
	250 mm		
Projection Line weight	0.3 mm	\sim	
regetter the megne	919 IIII		



68 Part 2: Documentation

• You can select a different section head by clicking on its name and in the appearing dialog selecting the Replace option. We are using the default one in this project.



- Close the dialog with the **OK** button and draw the section line on the floor plan with **one click at the starting point and one another at the endpoint**.
- Move your mouse and set the view direction arrow to point to the top and click to accept and the section will be created in
 a separate window from vectors and lines.





- Open the Section settings dialog and change the representation mode to Vector drawing and the visual style to Hidden line. Click OK to accept the changes.
- Place a section line perpendicular to the previous one that goes through the stair and set the direction arrow to point to the right.



- Now select this section line and click on the blue line. In the appearing menu select the Insert node option.
- Add a node to the section in the place of the door under the stair.
- Click on the top part of the section line and select the Offset option.
- Now offset the section line to the middle of the double door. Hit Enter to accept the changes.



In the appearing window select Yes to update the section.



2.1.2. Hatch patterns on sections

There may be cases when you want to modify wall, slab or other hatches of an intersected item on the section. These items all have materials inside, which define how the item looks like on a visual, a section or also on an elevation drawing. To be able to represent an intersected surface with a different hatch pattern you can

- either change the inner material to another one, with another hatch pattern
- * or you can actually modify the current material's properties to define another hatch representation of it.

Let's have a look and change the material properties of the slab of this concept design.

- Select the slab and click on the "Modify" button to open its properties.
- Click on the "Slab layers" button to open the slab layer list.
- Click on the material named "Reinforced_concrete". This opens the material list where you can either choose another
 material or edit the properties of this material.
- Click on the small cogwheel at the right top corner of the material list and select "Edit material".
- Find and click on the "Hatch on section" button.
- Click on the button "Hatch 67". This is the name of the current hatch pattern and now we are going to change it.
- Select the "Preferred" category on the left-hand side in the appearing dialog and select the "Reinforced concrete ISO" pattern and click OK.
- Change the Hatch spacing and the Dash length to 300 mm.
- Close all the dialog windows with an OK.
- Find the 2D symbol of the section line and right click on it (this is a shortcut to the context menu).
- Select the Create / Refresh section command.

2.1.3. Project location and North direction

Before setting the location and the north direction, first let's switch off the layers that we don't need currently.

- We don't need the linked 2D drawing at this point, so we can switch off the visibility of the layers these elements are placed on.
- Click on the arrow next to the Layer Manager icon and select the Layer Walk option.



- Press the CTRL key and click on all the layers that have Elata_Nova in their names.
- Click OK to accept the changes.
- Now go to File / BIM / Project parameters and click on the Project location.
- Select the Project location by Google Maps option.
- In the appearing dialog you can find the Google Maps, where you can set the exact location of the building.
- Type in the search bar "Carmel Avenue El Cerrito".
- Switch to Earth mode and move the map a bit to find the plot.



- Click on the pin sign and move it to the marked area.
- Click on the Arrow sign on the bottom bar and set the value to 42°.



2.1.4. Elevations

To create elevations, first we need to set the right parameters, then just select one from the list.

2.1.4.1. Placing elevations

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Elevation / Elevation settings command to open the Elevation dialog.
- Change the layer to Text. You can modify the Elevation symbol if you want to.



arameters	Value	
Representation in 2D		
Layer	Text	\sim
Colour		
Line type	Simple Line	~
Line weights	0 mm	~
Draw Order	8 - Bottom-most	~
Style of texts	Arial 200	~
Visible on all floors (More precisely in Floor dialog / Parameters)		
Representation in 3D		
Representation mode	Image	\sim
Visual Style	Hidden line	~
Elevation upper limit	0 mm	
Elevation lower limit	0 mm	
Elevation region. Depth:	1000 mm	
Show items behind the crop region, too. Their colour:		
Enable grid lines		
Partial elevation view - display the division between the sec		
Level annotation lines are visible		
Symbol at the end of level annotation lines	Edit	
Width of symbol	250 mm	
Style of floor level lines	Use style of section line	~
Text style of level annotation line		~
Hide all the objects		
Item types for applying section Line weight	Edit	
Section Line weight	0 mm	
Elevation symbol	Elevation_S	

- When you are ready with the settings, click on the elevation names to create them.
- Now select the West elevation and click on the pencil icon to enter its properties.
- Change the Visual style to "Consistent colour with wireframe".
- Hit OK, then in the appearing dialog click Yes. This will refresh the elevation view.
- In order to display hatches and technical shadow on the elevation, go to the **Ribbon Bar / View / Shadow** group and start the **Shadow on/off** command. The shadows instantly appear on the building.
- Select the Ribbon bar / View / Shadow simulation command.



• You can click and drag the Sun symbol or the Time and the Date slider to study the shadows cast by the sunlight.
Besides this real-time tool there is also a **Shadow animation** tool to record the result into a video file and a **Solar access** tool to generate a color coded shadow-phase drawing for documentation purposes. Both commands are in the **Ribbon bar / View / Shadow** command list.

2.1.4.2. Refreshing elevations

In some cases elevations need to be manually refreshed. Let's see an example for this now.

• Activate the floor plan and open the Floor manager to delete the Basement from the project.

	Edit levels			
			🔏 🖛 List of buildings Ard	hitecture
	Num33	leva Height State L 3000 mm Off 0 3000 mm Off 0 3000 mm Active 0	evel increment Parameters Na D mm FF D mm TS D mm BS	me Elev. Offset ^ - Finish Floor 50 mm - Top of Structure 0 mm - Bottom of Structure -300 mm
	0 Basement -3000 mi	n 3000 mm Off (nm Edit CE	- False celling 2600 mm - Ledge - 350 mm - Floor height 3000 mm V Copy area Paste
				0+1)E 0+1)E 0+1)I3 0+1]I3
	Site level is visible on the floor plan	Building elevation	n above sea level in m	OK Cancel
	Ĺ,			
1	<	ŝ> •		
Ground floor V	1 🖡 🥕 Column	~ 🦛 • ୶	″ • ≠* <u>R</u> , - •	

- Now activate the Northern elevation and click on its header.
- In the appearing menu select the Show on floor plan option.
- The program automatically zooms to the elevation sign.
- Right click on it and select the Create / Refresh Section option.

	\checkmark	
$\langle \rangle$		Group (7) [1/1] >>>
		Properties
	ß	Select
	Q	Go to view
		Create / Refresh Section
	×	Delete

- Now the selected elevation is updated, the extra annotation line disappeared.
- Repeat these steps on the other elevations too.

2.1.4.3. Shadows on elevations

- Activate the South elevation view.
- Click on the header and select the Image <-> Vector drawing.



٠



Change the Representation mode to Hidden line removal on the Navibar.



- On the Navibar click on the middle icon in the top row, which activates the shadow settings.
- In the appearing dialog set the shadow representation to Shadow with contour lines + hatches, the shading to Shaded with texture and the light direction to Elevation shadow.
- Make sure that the "Shadow on selected surfaces only" option is disabled.

Shadowing or shading
Shadow
Shadow with contour lines Shadow with contour lines + hatches Shadow hatches without contour lines Without shadow
Shading No (Hidden lines) Shaded Shaded with textures Face limit (34144)
Contour
🗲 Interior - Living room - Lighting 🗸 🗸
Light direction
 Sun shadow Elevation shadow Transparency with wireframe

• Now click **OK** and wait until the elevation will be regenerated with the new settings.

Architectural Tutorial



2.2. Documentation

Documentation is just as essential as the design process itself. This is when you can add annotations, dimensions, descriptions to your drawing and extract data using schedules or quantity take-offs in Microsoft Excel files. In the end you will publish your drawing either by using your physical printer or by generating digital PDF files with your drawings.

ARCHLine.XP supports both direct printing and the assembly of so-called plot layouts providing the professional functionality to organize content on virtual pages and to generate even multi page PDF files. Let's start making the documentation!

2.2.1. Callouts

To extract detailed drawings from parts of the building, use callouts.

- Activate the second section's view.
- Click ont he Ribbon bar / Documentation / Callout / Settings option to open the properties dialog.
- Change the layer to "Text".
- You can change the Callout head if you want to by clicking no its name.
- Click OK to accept changes.

	Text Dotted-dashed Omm 8 - Bottom-most Callout sign oval	~
Layer Colour Line type Line wojnts Draw Order I Callout head I Printable	Text Dotted-dashed Omm 8 - Bottom-most Callout sign oval	
Colour Line type Line weights Draw Order Callout head I Callout head	Dotted-dashed 0 mm 8 - Bottom-most Callout sign oval	~
Line type Line weights Draw Order ☑ Callout head ☑ Printable	Dotted-dashed 0 mm 8 - Bottom-most Collout sign oval	~
Line weights Draw Order ☑ Callout head ☑ Printable	0 mm 8 - Bottom-most Callout sign oval	~
Draw Order ☑ Caliout head ☑ Printable	S - Bottom-most Callout sign oval	~
☑ Callout head ☑ Printable	Callout sign oval	
🗹 Printable		



76 Part 2: Documentation

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Callout / Rectangle command to draw the area of the callout.
- Click on the floor plan to set the first corner of the area, then click again to set its opposite corner.
- The last task is to set the place of the callout sign.



- A new view is automatically created, where you can edit the callout.
- In the Section view select the slab and click on the pencil icon to enter its properties.
- In the Slab properties dialog click on the Slab layers button.

seneral properties					-
0 mm	🗸 💆 Slab 🗸 🗸	B	parquet_rovere_03		
Simple Line	- हु <mark>न</mark> 8 - Bottom-most 🗸		Bright_white		~
'he slab border doesn't display o	n the floor <mark>p</mark> lan in print		White ceiling		
Base offset from the floor	0 mm 🗸	Slant angle	0°		
Total thickness	-300 mm 🗸 🗸	Slab type	Slab	~	
Slab la	ayers	Cut the walls	No cutting	~	
Beams and block	flooring system	Cut by roofs	No cutting	~	
l.⊋		Extract slab from terrain U-value: 5.17 W/(m2*K)	IS		
		3D fixed			
	and the second	Display 2D Fills	R:0 G:0 B:0		
	A CONTRACTOR OF				

- Click on the green plus icon to add a new layer.
- Change the new layers' thickness to -100 mm, and the other one to -200 mm.
- Click on the material of the top layer and search for "Prefab concrete".
- Select the material and click on the gear icon in the top right corner.
- In the appearing dialog go to the Hatch on section tab and change the Hatch pattern to Concrete ISO, the Hatch spacing to 300 mm and the Dash length to 300 mm.
- Click OK to accept the changes, then hit again to set it as the material of the top layer.
- Close all dialogs by clicking OK.
- Click on the 3D hammer icon to refresh the model.

77

The walls and the structural layer of the slab now don't meet. Let's set the right values for the floor height, so everything will align. Walls and slabs are level bounded elements, which means the base and height of these elements allow you to define and update them automatically.

- Activate the floor plan and open the Edit levels dialog by clicking on the floor's name on the bottom bar.
- Select the 1. floor from the list and change the FF Finish Floor to 0 mm and the TS Top of Structure to -100 mm.

Edit levels								×
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I				🔒 👄 🔲	List of buildings	Architecture		
Num Name	Bottom eleva	Height	State	Level increment	Parameters	Name	Elev. Offset	^
3 2. floor	6000 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm		FF - Finish Floor	0 mm	
2 1. floor	3000 mm	3000 mm	Active	0 mm	Edit	TS - Top of Structure	-100 mm 🛛 🥑	
1 Ground floor	0 mm	3000 mm	Off	0 mm		BS - Bottom of Structure	-300 mm	
						CE - False ceiling	2600 mm	
						LE - Ledge	-350 mm	
						FH - Floor height	3000 mm	~
						Copy area	Paste	
						FH	(N+1) EF (N+1) IS (N+1) IS (N+1) IS (N) CE (N) FF (N) IS (N) IS (N) LE	
Site level is visible on the floor plan			Building eleva	tion above sea level i	in m			
			0 m			OK	Cance	

- Now the bottom of the walls is at the right height, but the slab needs to be adjusted.
- Enter the slab's properties and next to the Base offset from the floor value click on the arrow and select the Edit option.
- This way you can not only set a value for its base offset, but you can bound it to a certain point of the structure.
- In the Height Parameters dialog set the Bottom bound to FF Finish Floor.

-		
lab - upper level		
Top Bound	Unset	
Story	Current	
Top Offset	0 mm	(N+1)
Nominal Height	-200 mm	FH (N+1)
lab - lower level		
Bottom Bound	FF - Finish Floor	
Story	Current	
Bottom Offset	0 mm	
Base Elevation	0 mm	
	NOK Can	ncel

- Refresh the 3D model to see the changes in the section view.
- Activate the callout and right click on it. Select the Update Callout option to refresh it too.



2.2.2. Dimensioning

Let's add wall and opening dimensions around the whole plan.

- First, we need to set the parameters of the dimension lines.
- Open the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Properties / Length command.
- In the appearing dialog you can change all parameters of the dimension lines. You can also save and use styles so you can always use the exact same dimensions in all projects. Now click OK to quit this dialog.
- Select the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Building / All walls command.



• Select the one from the Dimension options and add the desired dimensions to assemble a list as shown on the picture.

Wall dimension	×
Dimension options: Interior walls dimensions Interior walls with opening sets distances Exterior walls with opening axes distances Exterior walls corner points Add Delete Commands to execute: (from the inside to out) Exterior walls with opening axes distances Exterior walls corner points	
	<u>0.3 3.4 0.3 0.9 1.2 0.80,1 1 0.9 1.1 0.3</u>
Dimension to the centerline of the wall	
Dimension to core layer only	3.7 1.8 2.95 1.85
Dimension each wall layer separately	3.7 6.6
Wall dimensions ignore cladding	10.3
Door / window detailed dimension settings	ph 0.9 ph 0
3 Attention. Opening width may be the gross, net or gross reduced by the frame value	OK Cancel

79

• When you added all dimension options to the list, click on the Door / window detailed dimension settings. Switch the opening dimension to Width and switch off the Sill height option.

Dimension style	x
Visible parameters	
● Width	
◯ Width / Height	
O Width Height	
[+]	
Taking into consideration of built-in details	
Width/height PLUS blindframe	\sim
Adjust dimension to width value	
Width MINUS reveal on left/right side (where exist)	
Height minus reveal on top/bottom (where exist)	
Height minus frame	
Height plus sill	
Sill height	ph
Sill height Unternal floor elev	ation: 0
42	Lancel

• After closing both windows, you can select the floorplan by drawing a rectangle from the right bottom corner to the top left corner – selecting the whole drawing.



- Press ENTER and the contour of the building is recognized automatically.
- Move the mouse to the desired position of the first dimension line and click.



• Go to the 1. floor and repeat the previous steps to place the same dimension.

The dimensions will follow the changes of the drawing. You can add new ones to the current dimensions or delete existing ones. You can also move dimensions in groups later, in case the position of dimensions should be refined.

Now let's dimension doors and windows on both floors.

圖

- Open the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Opening / Door command.
- On the Main parameters tab select the Dimension, consignment button.
- In the appearing dialog set the last option of the Visible parameters and switch off the Sill height.

Dimension style		×
Associate a dimension to the opening Visible parameters Width G50 Width / Height Width / Height 450	Dimension, consignment	
Adjust dimension to width value		~
Width MINUS reveal on left/right side (where exist)		
Height minus reveal on top/bottom (where exist)		
Height minus frame		
Height plus sill		
Sill height		ph
Sill height	 Internal floor elevation: 	0
Top height of door/window		STUK
Relative Absolute		
	OK	Cancel

- Enter the window properties the same way and set it to the same Visible parameter, but now switch the Sill height on.
- Select the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Building / Window / All command to activate all window dimensions on the Ground floor.
- Repeat the steps to activate the Door dimensions by clicking on the Door / All command.
- Repeat both procedures on the 1. floor too.

In case some dimensions are overlapping each other, click on the Door / Select command. Click on the external or internal side of the door to flip the dimension.

Let's measure the length of a wall.

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Length / Aligned command.
- Select the starting point of the wall, then click on the ending point.
- Now set the place of the dimension.

You can also create a series of dimensions along a horizontal/vertical line.

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Serial in horizontal command.
- Select the first point and the end point of the dimension line, then set its place.
- The program automatically continues the dimensioning, you just have to add the end points of the next dimension lines.
- When the dimension line is shorter than the value, you can move the value to a different place.





2.2.3. Room and area

You can visualize important information about the rooms of a floor plan by using the Room and area tool. The name of the room and the size of the room area will be represented by default. However, the look and content of the room stamp can be fully customized.

There are basically two ways to define the area of the room on the floor plan.

- By clicking inside a closed boundary of walls or
- by drawing a polygon contour manually.

Room by walls

In case the room is surrounded by walls, we recommend using the **Room by Walls** command. It has the advantage that clicking inside of the room automatically creates a room stamp based on the closed contour by walls. There is no need to draw the contour of the room. This means that the room stamp is connected to the walls, changes on the walls are followed by the calculations.

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Room / Room and area command to set its properties.
- You can select the type of the measurement on the Norms and rules tab, select DIN277.
- On the Upper Limit tab, you can set the values of the attic space. But now we don't need this on the ground floor.
- In the Calculated area set the Room name to Room.
- Now select the Ribbon bar / Building / Room and area / Room by walls command to place the stamp on the floor plan.



Click inside a room that is surrounded by walls. The room stamp is placed in the room.



You can change the appearing content of the room stamp in its properties dialog if you want to further configure it.

• You can move the stamp by clicking on the move icon after selecting it.

Room by polygon

This function is used when a physical space is divided into more than one functions (e.g., a living-dining room) or when we would like to measure areas not surrounded by walls (for example: terraces, balconies, gardens).

- Select the Ribbon Bar / Building / Room and area / Room by polygon command.
- Draw the shape of the room by following the inner side.



• Type the wall / ceiling height in the dialog box that appears.

ARCHLine.XP 2019	x
Height of slab/wall	
	New value: 2700
	OK Cancel

- The room stamp is ready, you can modify it afterwards as described above.
- Draw the area of the Livingroom too, so now the ground floor has all the Room and area stamps created.





84 Part 2: Documentation

- Let's activate the border line between these two stamps.
- In the properties of the Dining stamp on the Profile and area properties tab set the line type to Dotted.
- Right click on the stamp and select the Edit / Space profile On/Off command.
- The program automatically shows on the floor plan the border of the selected stamp.



2.2.4. Elevation on floor plan

You can place a dimension symbol of an elevation on the floor plan.

Select the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Elevation on floor plan command.



- A dialog box appears with the starting height which can be changed if it is needed. Click OK without changing the value
- Click OK to continue.
- In the appearing dialog window, you can change the desired symbol. Let's keep it for now.



Place the symbol on the floor plan with one click.

Good to know: Editing groups

When you place a group on the floor plan, it is closed, it cannot be edited. Let's see how you can edit a group on the floor plan.

- Right click on the group and select the Edit group command.
- Now the editor mode is active, the group can be edited, everything else is graved out.
- Select and modify the elements that you want to edit.
- When you are ready editing the group, right click on any of the elements in it and select the Close group command. •

2.2.5. Symbols

There are other symbols that may be needed on a floor plan during design, such as the symbol that marks the entrance or the North direction symbol. Most symbols can be found under the Design center / Building / Groups / Signs category. To position them on the floor plan just drag and drop them onto the drawing.

North direction sign

Find the Design center / Building / Group / Signs / North - English category and select a north sign that suits you and ٠ simply click and drag it onto the floor plan and release the mouse button. Click once to place it.

0

년

1000





• The North symbol will be automatically aligned with the previously set North direction of the project.



- Select the symbol and in the property grid activate the Force colour option. This will force the layer's color setting on the symbol.
- Change the width of the symbol to 2000 mm in the property grid while the Maintain aspect ratio is activated.

Entrance symbol

• Select an arrow in the Design center / Group / Signs / Arrows category and place it in front of the entrance.



The previously mentioned modifications (resizing, positioning) can be performed in the same way as in the previous example.

Good to know: How to create new symbols?

In this tutorial we do not create a new symbol but for future references you can use the following short summary in case you would like to create custom symbols for your design.

- Draw the new symbol in the 2D window using lines, rectangles, polylines and text using the Ribbon Bar / Drafting tools.
- Select the **Ribbon Bar / Drafting / Group / Create group in library** command. This command allows you to save and access your new symbol when working on other projects too.



- Select all the elements of the new symbol and hit Enter.
- Click to set up a reference point for the symbol. You can define as many reference points that you want. Hit Enter to finish
 adding reference points.
- Name the new symbol and categorize it. For a subcategory you can select from the list or just type in a new name.



Create new item in the library			3
Name of the new item in the library: Symbol			 ~
SIGNS			~
Sub category: Arrows			~
Circle signs Consignation Elevation Human			
Line endings North - English North - Hungarian Onening direction			
Other Section Square signs Stair			
Urban design - Hungarian VR_Panorama			
	[OK	Cancel

2.2.6. Placing a text

- Place a text on the architectural floor plan by using the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Text / Place it command.
- In the appearing "Text actuals" dialog window, type the text to place (for example, "Ground floor"), and then click OK.



- The orange contour of the text appears, one of the corners is grabbed by the cursor. With this corner point, you can place the text on the drawing sheet anywhere you like.
- Now the text is placed, the text input window re-appears. Close the window by clicking on the Cancel button. The default text height is 200 mm, which is ideal for displaying designs at a 1:50 or 1:100 scale compared to drawing content.





Text with pointer line

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Text / Text with pointer command.
- Create the text "RC Column" and click OK.
- Select the column on the left side of the building.
- Now the orange rectangle appears that shows the size of the text. Place it under the column.
- Set the pointer line's breaking point and connect it to the column.



- Select the text and click on the move icon on the floating menu.
- Click on the Move a copy from command and set the reference point to the end of the pointer line.
- Place the copies to the other two columns in front of the building.



2.2.7. Lengths dimensioning

Let's add dimensions to the West elevation view. We will dimension the distances of the openings and the main building parts.

Lengths dimensioning

- Activate the West elevation view.
- Select the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Serial in horizontal command.



90 Part 2: Documentation



- Click on the starting point of the dimension at the left edge of the building, then click on the left side of the sliding door.
- Now position the dimension line below the building.
- Continue measuring the openings of the building.
- Now dimension the corners of the building like in the picture below.



2.2.8. Elevation on section

The **Elevation on section** command is located on the **Ribbon bar / Dimension** tab. The dimensioning process is the following:

- Open the command from the above-mentioned path, then mark the starting height on the wall elevation view by clicking on the connection between the slab and wall. This will be the origin of measurement.
- To measure the value 0, then determine the position of the dimensioning next to the wall elevation view. Click on the preferred position, so the first height value of 0.00 will appear next to the wall elevation view at the desired location.



• Additional points should be determined with just one click and the height value for that distance will be displayed immediately next to the wall elevation view.



- When the dimensions are all placed, press ENTER.
- Add the "West Elevation" text to the drawing.

2.2.9. Material markers

In the documentation we will identify the different materials. For this we need to place markers to ID the appearing materials.

- Search the markers in the Design Center / Groups / Signs / Square signs folder.
- Drag and drop markers to the different materials of the elevation as in the picture below.



Repeat steps 2.2.7 and 2.2.8 on the South elevation. If the shadows disappeared, you can activate them again the same way as we did it in step 2.1.4.3.

2.2.10. Serial in vertical

- Activate the vector drawing section and dimension the ground floor and the first floor as we did it in steps 2.2.7. and 2.2.8.
- Click on the Ribbon bar / Dimension / Serial in vertical command.
- Measure the height of the structural elements as in the picture below.
- Place the text "Section 01" on the drawing.





2.2.11. Layer markers

To identify the layered structures in the building when creating the final documentation, we'll place markers on these elements.

In the Design Center / Groups / Signs / Circle signs folder search the Vertical_simple_circle_sign elements and place them
on the drawing as in the picture below.



2.2.12. Tags

Tags display the properties of the element they are connected to. The displayed data is automatically updated if you change the properties of the elements or you can change the properties of the elements directly from the tags. We will create a tag for the ramp in front of the house.

- First, start the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Line command and select the Simple line + arrowhead style on the left side.
- Place an arrow that shows the inclination of the ramp.
- Tags use the text style set in the text properties. Change the Font size to 100 mm in the text properties dialog.
- Open the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Tag / Create tags command.

Building	Interior	Drafting	Dimension	Docum	entation
Schedule	Tags	Quantity take-off	Hand-sket	ch style	Mood bc
on 1:100	125	Quick tags			* Click
Docur	125	Place tags	_		
	O	Create tags			

- In the appearing dialog you can set the properties of the tag.
- On the left side select the Architectural elements from the drop down menu (1).
- Select the element type: Ramp (2).
- Select the group you want to add information from (3).
- Select the information you want to add to the tag (4).
- Click on the arrow (5) to add it to the tag.
- With the Up and Down buttons (6) you can modify the order of the properties. Set the same order as in the picture below.
- Switch off the visibility of everything but the Elevation, Upper level elevation and Inclination cells (7).
- Add the prefixes to the visible elements as in the picture below.
- Click Apply and OK (8) to accept the changes.

iscipline:	Group		Tags		Ramp tag	~	New	Delete
Architectural elements	✓ General properties				Import	Export	Export all	Delete A
	Calculated values		Tag	parameters				
Types	Pset_RampCommon (8)	<u> </u>		Darameter	lama	Visible	Drofiv	Cuffer
Vall	ARCHline.XP Common (5)			Parameter	vame	visidie	Ргепх	SUTTIX
Joor			1	ID				
Nindow			2	Floor				
Corner window	News	•	3	Style				
Curtain wall	ivame		4	Name:				
lab		ID		Elevation			Bottom el.	
Column	Building		6	Upper level (elevation:		Upper el.	
eam	Floor		7	Width				
Poof	Style		8	Indination:		✓	Inc.	
tair	Layer							
	Name:	5						
(amp	Elevation							
alling 2	Upper level elevation:							
oom and area	Waist slab material							
linth	Thickness							
urveyed room	Dailing automatically added to left side			6				
Group	Deiling automatically added to left side				-			
	Railing automatically added to right side			UP	Down			Delete

- Click on the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Tags / Place tags command.
- The software automatically shows the type you previously set.
- Click OK.
- In the appearing dialog you have the option to change the visual settings of the tag.
- Click OK without changing anything.
- Select the ramp on the floor plan and place the tag next to the arrow.
- Select the pointer line of the tag and delete it. This step won't terminate the connection between the ramp and the tag.





2.2.13. Schedules

Schedules are dynamic lists of building parts, generated based on the project content. Schedules are in bi-directional connection with the drawing, which means that changes of the projects are reflected in the schedules and changing values of the schedule tables will have an effect on the corresponding items of the drawing, too. Let's see how that works.

- Activate the Ground floor.
- Click on the Documentation / Schedule / Placing Schedule command on the Ribbon bar.
- Select the "Window" schedule in the left-hand side list of the appearing dialog window, then press OK.
- Let's keep the default setting in the "Formatting schedule" window and click **OK**.
- · Place the schedule next to the drawing on the Ground floor with one click.

You can see that all the windows are grouped into one row, because they have the same parameters. Let's place a schedule for doors too. This time we'll customize its content.

- Click on the Documentation / Schedule / Define Schedule command on the Ribbon bar.
- The appearing dialog is similar to the one we used for defining the tag previously.
- Select the Architectural elements, Door, General properties and add the Image with dimensions option to the schedule by
 pressing the right arrow in the middle.
- With the up and down arrows organize the door schedule's content to the same order as the window schedule.
- Click Apply and OK to accept the changes.

Discipline:		Group	^		Sche	dules	Door Sched	lule	\sim	New	Delete
Architectural elements	~	General properties					Impo	ort I	Export	Export all	Delete A
		Calculated values			Sche	dule parameters					
Types	<u>^</u>	Pset_DoorCommon (12)				Parameter Name		Calcula	Vicible	Drafiv	Suffix
Wall		Quantities (4)				Farameter Name		Calcula	VISIDIE	FICIA	Junix
Door		ARCHline.XP Common (5)	~		1	Instance ID					
Mindau		· · · ·		_	2	Qty					
		Name	^		3	Nominal W x H			\square		
Corner window		Lintel material			4	Area					
Curtain wall		Lintel surface material				Name					ļ
Slab		Mullion on left side		->	5	ivanie					
Column		Mullion on right side			6	Image with dimens	sions				
Beam		Mailon of right side			7	Floor			\checkmark		
-		Corner mullion width									
Roof		Corner mullion thickness									
Stair		Corner mullion material									
Ramp		Image									
Railing		Image with dimonsions									
- Doom and area		unage with dimensions.				LIP Dow	'n				Delete
coom and area			~			OF DOW					Delete

- Place the door schedule the same way as before.
- Select the All floors option in the top to extend the schedule to the whole building.
- Click OK to accept the changes and place the door schedule under the window schedule.

Finding and changing items of a schedule

Items of a schedule can be easily found on the drawing, by selecting the content.

- Select the previously placed schedule and find one of the Flush doors of the Ground floor in the list.
- Click on the small "Finder" magnifying glass icon at the left side of the row and the software will draw an arrow pointing to the item on the drawing.
- Find the width value in the schedule for this very door and click on the blue value.
- Type a slightly smaller or larger value (for example 1000 mm or 850 mm) and hit **Enter**. The software changes the width of the door on the drawing.

Saving schedules into Excel tables

If you want to save a separate table of the schedule, you can do it easily.

• Right click on the schedule and select the Save to Excel command.

2.2.14. Quantity take-off

Quantity take-off is a great set of commands that you can use when you would like to extract data from your design into Microsoft Excel files to use them for calculations.

Let's extract a Building calculation and a Room summary list.

- Use the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Quantity take-off / Excel list command.
- Select the **Building calculation** option.
- Leave all options enabled and turn off "Export BIM parameters" and click OK.
- Set up the file name "Building_calculation.xlsx" and click Save to save the file.
- Microsoft Excel automatically opens the file if you have it installed on your computer.

- - 5° ∂* ∓							Consigna	tion - Excel			
File Home Insert P	'age Layout Fo	ormulas Dat	a Review	View Hel	p 📿 Tell me what y	ou want to do					
Paste Copy -	ibri • 1	18 - A A		: ≫- %v	Vrap Text Gen	eral ▼ ▼ 04 + €0.00 C	nditional Format as	formal Bad	Go	od	
🗸 🚿 Format Painter	1 × × 1 m ·	1 -			ege of Center	Fo	rmatting * Table * 💻				_
Clipboard Gil	Font	6		Alignment	61	Number G			Styles		
A1 * : × ~	f _X Wall	list									
Α	вс	D	E	F	G	н	1	L L	к	L	м
1 Wall list											
2 ID	Style Picture	Width (m)	Height (m)	Longitude (m)	GrossSideArea 1 (m2)	GrossSideArea 2 [m2]	NetSideArea 1 (m2)	NetSideArea 2 [m2]	Volume (m3)	Copies	Tota
3 4908	100	1 0.3	2.7	6.016	15.974	17.864	11.774	13.664	3.856	1	1
4		u									
5											
7											
8 4912	Ð	0.1	1.789	4.938	8.835	8.835	6.945	6.945	0.636	1	1
9											
10		2									
11											
13 5029	· · · ·	. 0.3	2.7	7.715	20.561	20.831	17.201	17.471	5.241	1	i.
14	\Box										
15											
16											
18 7161		0.3	2.7	0.5	1.35	1.3	1.35	1.35	0.405	1	
19		0.5	2	0.5	1.00		, 1.55	1.00	0.405	-	-
20											

Make E	xcel report ×
	Building calculation
ਸ਼	Interior Calculation
	Tiling
m²	Rooms
* \$	Terrain calculation
83	List by manufacturers

Room summary list:

- Use the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Quantity take off / Excel list command.
- Select the Rooms option.
- Click on "Yes" to update all rooms and areas in your project to reflect the latest status.
- Set up the file name "Room_summary.xlsx" and click "Save" to save the file.
- Microsoft Excel automatically opens the file if you have it installed on your computer.

2.2.15. Design phases

When you want to show multiple instances of the same building, you can assign different elements to different phases. If you use phases instead of deleting parts of the building, you will be able to refer back to the original plan in the documentation.

- Turn the Kitchen and the Office into one room by changing the phases of the partition wall and the smaller door.
- Select the Ribbon bar / Edit / Phases / Change to Demolish command.
- Select the partition wall, the single door, the area stamps and the dimensions and hit Enter.



- In the top Taskbar under the Ribbon bar you can find the Phase filter selector.
- Here you can define which phase the program should show.



96 Part 2: Documentation

Modify Properties	Create similar	Paste	Cut Copy Copy properties	Move	C Dupli Geon	o cate netry	X Delete	tii Tri ■X= Dele □ Offs	im 🔹 ete part set	Chamfe Fillet = 1 Break Edit	er 📭
Exi	sting State	• 🗳	All			0	Sine Fine		•	1:100	•
Design center	er n all items]	-	Existing plan	J				100	210	r D	ocumen
Building]] @		Existing plan after D)emolition plan	9						
Door Win	id Stair Profile	e Group		8	17						

- Select the Existing plan to see the original version of the building.
- Select the Demolition plan and the program will automatically mark the parts that are connected to this phase.
- Select the Existing plan after Demolition to see the building after demolition.
- Select the New construction plan to see the parts that were added after the unnecessary parts were demolished.

2.2.16. Plot layout

In order to record differently scaled plans to the corresponding project it is beneficial to create plot layouts. It is also recommended to use them as they provide neat, precise look.

• The Prepare plot layout command is available under the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Plot layout group.

) 🖓 🐰 🗇 🛅 🖌 🔿	/ 🗙 =		F Edit View	Building	Interior Dra	fting Dimension	Documenta	tion
Plot layout	Copy part to plot layout	A	Wall elevation	A B Drawing comparison	Snapshot	X Ouantity take-off	Hand-sketch style	Mood board	Mode
•	Refresh all layouts	•	1	Ť	Documentat	ion	+	•	Virtu
Prepare plot layout							Floor	plan - Default - (Ground '

- First, you need to set the paper size, the number of pages, the name of the layout and the orientation in the appearing dialog window.
- You also need to select the plot stamp, which is named "English2".
- Click OK to accept the settings and to create the plot layout.

	, setup					
Paper set	ting					
Forms	ISO A3 297x420	mm				~
		Number	of sheets i	n columns, row	IS	
Width	420			Columns	2	
Height	297			Rows	2	
Plot layou	t name (A-):				001	
A	 Landscape 					
Non-pri	Landscape Intable Margin 4]		dY:	4	
Non-pri dX:	Landscape Landscape A]		dY:	4	
Non-pri dX:	Landscape Itable Margin 4		r F F F F F	dY:	4	
Non-pri dX: Induc English1, orizonta	Landscape Landscape table Margin 4 e plot stamp h English1_ve trical	English2	nglish3	dY:	4 Site Plan Layout A3	

2.2.16.1. Floor plans on the plot layout

From the Project Navigator on the right-hand side drag and drop the Ground floor drawing on the sheet.

• "Drag and drop" the Ground floor plan onto the page and select the 1:100 scale factor.



- Place the content to an empty area of the plot layout. This way it is possible to place different drawings on a plot layout with different scaling.
- Click on the blue border line to offset the right side and the bottom side, so only the floor plan will be visible.





98 Part 2: Documentation

Now let's create the demolition plan for the documentation. We only need the top part of the floor plan for this.

 Activate the Ground floor and click on the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Plot layout / Copy part to plot layout by rectangle command.



- Select the area of the floor plan, then set the reference point.
- Activate the plot layout and click on the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Plot layout / Paste plot layout / 1:100 command.



- Place the drawing on the plot layout.
- Select it again and click on the move icon. Select the Move from ... command and click on the top left corner of the building.
- align the drawing to the other floor plan.



- Select the second floor plan and click on the pencil icon to open its properties dialog.
- Change the Phase Filter to Demolition plan.



• The program automatically calculates the changes and shows it on the plot layout.



• Go back to the floor plan view and change the ramp's color in the property grid to grey.



- Go back to the plot layout. You'll see that this change is not visible yet.
- Right click on the first plan and select the Refresh this command.





• Now the program will recalculate this drawing and show the changes on the plot layout too.

2.2.16.2. Elevations on the plot layout

- Drag and drop the West elevation on the second sheet and select the 1:100 ratio.
- Activate the South elevation and reactivate the shadows on the drawing.
- Place it on the sheet next to the West elevation.
- Align it to the West elevation.



2.2.16.3. Sections on the plot layout

- Drag and drop the Vector section on the third sheet.
- Activate the callout and select its area with the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Plot layout / Copy part to plot layout by rectangle command. Set the reference point too.
- Place the callout on the plot layout in 1:20 ratio next to the section.
- Connect the section and the callout with lines as in the picture below.



2.2.16.4. Lists on the plot layout

We need an A4 page in portrait mode for the list to fit the paper best. We need to delete the fourth page and add a new one to the plot layout.

- Select the fourth page and the plot stamp and delete them.
- Click on the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Plot layout / Prepare plot layout command to add a new paper to the other ones.
- Select the A4 size from the drop-down menu, change the columns and rows to 1 and set the orientation to portrait.
- Click OK to accept the settings.
- In the appearing dialog click on No to add this paper to the layout.
- Copy the lists from the floor plan to the plot layout by any of the previously mentioned methods in 1:200 ratio.





Good to know: How to create plot stamps?

Documentation can be formally unified with the use of the plot stamp, which provides a suitable framework for the presented plans. It is possible to create a plot stamp that can be saved later on the plot layout. It is desirable to draw a plot stamp in different sizes (A3, A4), as well as in portrait and landscape positions, which you can use afterwards.

- Create a new plot layout following as described above.
- Create the plot stamp frame. The simplest way is to draw a border line along the print range (blue dotted line) by using the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Polyline / General rectangle command.
- After placement, select Offset All command from the Local menu and move by 2 mm towards the center of the plot layout.

	1	$\mathbf{r} \mathbf{o} \mathbf{o} \mathbf{x}$		1	8 × -	×	T Ā		Edit View	Build	ling	Interior	Drafting
/ Po	Julyline	C Rectangle	(+) Circle	Arc	Hatch	T Text	+ Point	Ellipse	Raster image	[2D] Group	3D	New prof	ß ile Create
1	1	Polyline			Draw					Alap	rajz - Def	ault - 1st floo	Create or (3000 mm)
4	F	Multiline											
<	\geq	General rectang	le										
L		Polygon											

 \square

The offset is needed in case the contour of the plot stamp and the border line of the printing area are overlapping each other; therefore, it won't be visible in printing.

• Drawing additional rectangles in the plot layout, you can create the final layout of the stamp as it is shown below:

5	
	li
l i	
N	

- Insert a label (e.g., customer, designer, name of plan, scale, date, logo, etc.) by using the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Text / Place it command in the plot stamp.
- Depending on the most recently used settings, change the text size to 5-10 mm to fit in the columns.

_		
- 7		I
- 11		1
- i		li li
1		li
- i		i
- 11		li
- 11		li
- i		1
- !!		li
- !!		i
- 4		1
- 11		1
		1
- 4		
		!
- !!		1
- !!		1
		1
- 11		
- il		
- 11		
		i i i
- i I		
- i		
- i		i i
- 11		li
- 11		li
- 11		1
1		
		i
-		1
-il	Architect:	
	Date:	i
-1	Date.	i
		i
1	Client	!
	Cilcina	
- 11		
NI		
j l		
-		

You can place a logo / image in the plot stamp with the **Ribbon bar / Documentation / Mood board / Raster image** command.

After that, fill in the plot stamp with additional texts and convert these into variables in order to be able to rewrite them after each placement.

- Place text from the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Text group.
- Adjust the height of the text to the correct size, then right click and select the "Convert text to variable" option.



			Text (24) [1/1] >>>	
			Properties	1
			Select +	l
		1	Copy properties	l
		P	Create Similar	l
Droject		1	Delete	l
гюјесі			Attach photo	l
		Ŗ	Find material	l
		Ŗ	Locate item in Design Center	
			Modify text	
			Convert text to variable	
	¥		Draw Order	
	Ĕ		Layer 🕨	

When you have finished setting up the content, it is recommended to save the plot stamp. This way it will be available later.

Select all elements of the plot stamp, but make sure that the plot layout itself is not included. The simplest way to do this is to select the entire page and its contents with a rectangle. Then hold SHIFT down and click on the border edge of the page, now its color will change to black, while the contents of the stamp remain blue.

	€ Architect:	
	Date:	
	Client:	
↓		

- Select the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Group / Create group in library command.
- Specify the reference points of the plot stamp; these will be used for placing it later.

Architect:	
Date:	
Client:	

As a reference point, it is useful to select the corners of the printing area. This way when you place it later, the plot stamp will always be within the print range.

- Press ENTER and the "Create new item in the library" window appears.
- Type the name of the library element (e.g. A3_landscape).
- Define the category and subcategory of the item (e.g. PRINTING / English), and then click OK.

Create new item in the	library
Name of the new item i	n the library:
A3_landscape	· · ·
Category:	
PRINTING	
Sub category:	
English	
Producer:	
Generic	
	OK Cancel

After saving, the plot stamp will be available to be placed from the Design center.

- Simply find the Groups in the Design center and use the "drag and drop" method to place it on an empty plot layout in the bottom left corner, for example.
- To fill the plot stamp, right-click on the edge of the plot stamp, then select the "Edit text in group" command or left click with your mouse button to change directly the data in the plot stamp.

Other parts of the previously placed plot stamp can also be modified after placing it:

• Select the plot stamp and choose Edit group from the Local menu, the contents of the plot layout turn grey.

105



		×	Group (53) [1/1] >>> Properties Select Delete Copy properties
Architect: Date:		Ŗ	Edit text in group Explode Copy geometry to groups with same name Locate item in Design Center
Client:	t:		Refresh this
	Group		Scale Group

- Then you can modify the elements of group (text, lines).
- After making the changes, make sure to close the group by using the Close group command in the Local menu.

		Group (25) [1/1] >>>
		Properties
		Select
	×	Delete
	1	Copy properties
		Edit text in group
		Explode
		Copy geometry to groups with same name
	Ŗ	Locate item in Design Center
		Refresh all layouts
		Refresh this
		Edit group
		Scale Group
•	[#]	Close group
2		Close one level up
ō		Layer •

Good to know: Layer visibility on plot layout

How is it possible, that everything is visible on the plot layout but after printing, some elements are missing from the document? This is the result of the incorrect layer visibility settings. Let's see how to set up the correct layer visibility of a drawing.

- Select a drawing on the plot layout and click on the pencil icon.
- Click on the Layer button and check which of the layers are visible on the drawing.
- When all the needed layers are visible in this setting, close the dialog by clicking OK.
- Activate the original drawing and click on the Layer Properties Management button on the bottom bar.
- In the appearing dialog check the Printable column and make all needed layers printable.

2.2.16.5. BIM parameters and plot stamps

When you have variable texts in the plot stamp, you can easily add and change parameters of the stamp by modifying the BIM parameters.

- Go to File / BIM / Project parameters and add the wanted information to the correct row in the appearing dialog.
- Add "Elata Nova" to the Project name, "001" to the Project version number and your name to the Architect name.

Architectural Tutorial

107

- You can also add new rows with custom information to this list by clicking on the Add button.
- Click OK to accept all changes.
- Right click on the stamp and select the Edit text in group command.
- In the appearing dialog click on the Update Project parameters button. This will update the variable texts in the stamp.

Name	Value	-
Controller		
Company Address		
Company Name		
Consigner		
Date		
Designation		
Designer		
Project	Elata Nova	
Project no.	001	
Scale		
Sheet		
	Project Name and Address	
	Date	
	Consigner	
	Sheet	
	Mass (kn)	

• Click OK to accept the changes and now the stamp is automatically filled with the added BIM parameters.

	Name	Project Name a	Project Name and Address		Designed by	
Designed by			Elata Nova			
Checked by						
Approved by		Designation		Mass (kg)	7	
Project no.				Consigner		
	001					
Date						

- To do this in bulk, you have to go to the Ribbon bar / Documentation / Plot layout / Update Project Parameters command.
 - Clicking on this command opens the Project properties dialog, in which you can further customize the content.
- Click OK to accept all changes, and the program will update all stamps automatically.

2.3. Printing

It is essential to be able to publish your previously created drawings in a project. You can either:

- print the current single drawing or
- print the current plot layout assembled from many other drawings.

The result can be a hard copy or a PDF file, depending on what you need to provide for your clients.

Make sure you have the plot layout activated and start the **Ribbon bar / Documentation / Print** command. Let's see a quick guide to the Print dialog, before we start:

Printer/plotter PDF Printing Paper size: 420 x 297 mm Total drawing size 391 x 273 mm Printable Area: 412 x 289 mm Printable drawing size 391 x 273 mm Available paper sizes Available paper sizes Available paper sizes Colour -> Pen Qoptimal paper size What to print © Entire drawing © Entire drawing © Entire drawing © Colour -> Pen Print all text in black © User defined © Default © Default © Default © Default © Scale: factor 11 © Scale factor View View Phot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm © Colour He plot 5 No the weight ON/OFF Plot Line weight ON/OFF Plot be weight ON/OFF	I.							
PBF Printing Paper size: 420 x 297 mm Printable Area: 412 x 289 mm Printable drawing size 31 x 273 mm Stree 120 mm 297 mm Colour -> Pen 420 mm 297 mm Colour -> Pen 1 Colour -> Pen Printable Area: Colour -> Pen Colour -> Pen Printable Area: 1 10.3 <mm< td=""> Y: 7.6<mm< td=""> Pot toffset X: 10.3<mm< td=""> Y: 7.6<mm< td=""> Pot toffset X: 10.3<mm< td=""> Y: 7.6<mm< td=""> Pot time weight with scale factor Pot time weight oN/OFF Replace halftone with tim lines Preview Pot factor</mm<></mm<></mm<></mm<></mm<></mm<>	Printer/plotter							
Paper size: 420 x 297 mm Total drawing size 391 x 273 mm Printable Area: 412 x 289 mm Printable drawing size 391 x 273 mm Available paper size Available paper size Colour Sheets Size 150 A3 297x420 mm 422 mm 97 mm Source Landscape Colour -> Pen All colour in grayscale All colour in grayscale Colour -> Pen Col	PDF Printing			~				
Printable Area: 412 x 289 mm Printable drawing size 391 x 273 mm Size SI2 A3 297x420 mm 1 420 mm 297 mm Source Landscape 2 Optimal paper size What to print © Entrie drawing © Scale factor 1:1 0 Scale: 1:1 0 Scale factor 1:1 0 1:1 0	Paper size:	420 x 297 mm	Total drawing size	391 x 273 mm				
Available paper sizes Size 120 mm 297 mm 420 mm 297 mm Optimal paper size What to print © Landscape 2 Colour -> Pen Print all text in black View Orientation © Carrent view 3 Orientation © Colour in grayscale Orientation © Interation © Carrent view 4122/289 Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm Center the plot 5 No the Provide Provide Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm Dot time weight with scale factor Plot Line weight with scale factor Plot Line weight NUN/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines No the Provide Provide Provide Provide No the Provide <td>Printable Area:</td> <td>412 x 289 mm</td> <td>Printable drawing size</td> <td>391 x 273 mm</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Printable Area:	412 x 289 mm	Printable drawing size	391 x 273 mm				
Available paper sizes Size ISO A3 297x420 mm 1 420 mm 297 mm Source Landscape 2 Optimal paper size What to print © Entrie drawing © Entrie drawing © Current view © Finitable Area: 412x289 Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm © Center the plot 5 No style No style No style Printable Area: Colour -> Pen Printable Area: Colour -> Pen Printable Area: Colour -> Pen Pintable Area: Colour -> Pen Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm © Center the plot 5 No style Prote Mereight With scale factor © Center the plot 5 No style Prote Mereight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines No style Prote Mereight ON/OFF	Cluteril	nă Orași a Destriariar î	The second	Sheets				
Size ISO A3 297x420 mm 1 420 mm 297 mm Source Landscape 2 Optimal paper size What to print © Entire drawing Current view View Printable Area: 412x289 Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm Center the plot 5 No style No style No style Printable Area: Calour -> Pen Orientation Calour -> Pen Orientation Calour -> Pen Orientation Calour -> Pen Orientation Calour -> Pen Orientation Calour -> Pen Orientation Colour -> Pen Orientation Calour -> Pen Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientatio	Available paper sizes		Colour		Lundar	վուտեսունու	ւհուսեստեւ	
420 mm 297 mm Source Landscape Optimal paper size What to print © Entre drawing © Entre drawing © Current view O'ientation View View Printable Area: 412x289 Plot offset X: 10.3 <mm< td=""> Y: 7.6<mm< td=""> © Center the plot 5 Plot offset No style Prot defined District examples of the weight with scale factor Plot to fise here weight with scale factor Plot to fise weight of the weight of the</mm<></mm<>	Size ISO A3	297x420 mm	O All colour in gray	scale				
Source Landscape 2 Optimal paper size What to print © Entire drawing © Current view Orientation View Printable Area: 412x289 Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm © Center the plot 5 No style Printable Area: Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: Commany Plot offset Plot offset No style Printable Area: © Center the plot 5 No style Printable Area: Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: Commany Plot offset No style Providew Prov	420	mm 297 mm	All colour in black		1	estes ,	-	\sim
Jobite La Itubelipe 2 Optimal paper size What to print © Entire drawing Ourrent view O Lorrent view O View View Printable Area: 412x289 Plot offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm Center the plot Scale Line weight with scale factor Plot Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines No style Print all Print all text in black Print all text in black Orientation © Default © Default © Default Scale I Output offset X: 10.3 mm Y: 7.6 mm © Center the plot Sole No style Print all text in black Print all text in black O Default © Default Scale I O Default O Default Scale I O Default O Default Scale I O Default D Default O Default O D	Source		User defined	Calaura A Dara		┏┋┯╶┇┓ ╵	m - 17	
□ Optimal paper size What to print © Entire drawing Current view O'ientation O'iscale Line weight drawing Scale: O'iscale Line weight with scale factor O'iscale Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines				colour -> Peri			╢┋╙╻	
What to print	Optimal paper size		_				╢╺┠┻┇	<u>II ~~</u>
Current view Ourrent view Orientation Scale: 412x289 Scale: 0: Lin: 0: User defined 1: 1.0 0: Scale Line weight with scale factor Orientation Orientation Outser defined 1: 1.0 Scale Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines Proview Print 6 Correl And	What to print		Print all text in bl	ack			m	a .
Orientation Oview Orientation Scale: 0 11 Ouser defined 1:<	Ourrent view		Visible floor in gra	ayscale		≜ E		
View View Printable Area: 412x289 Scale: 412x289 Scale: Scale: </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>Orientation</td> <td>ault</td> <td></td> <td>₩<u>₩</u>₩</td> <td></td> <td>1117</td>			Orientation	ault		₩ <u>₩</u> ₩		1 117
O Printable Area: Scale: 4 Image: Plot offset Image: Image	View	View	A OPot	ated drawing	2	6 I VI		
Scale: 412x289 Plot offset 0 User defined X: 10.3 Y: 7.6 mm Scale line weight with scale factor Plot Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines		VIEW						
412239 Scale line weight with scale factor Plot offset User defined X: 10.3 Y: 7.6 Center the plot 5	O Phintable Area:	442-200	Scale:	4	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I			
Plot offset User defined X: 10.3 mm L: 1.0 Y: 7.6 mm Center the plot 5 Plot Line weight with scale factor Plot Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines No style Proview Print 6 Central Appli		412X289	Scale lactor					
X: 10.3 mm 1: 1.0 Y: 7.6 mm Scale Line weight with scale factor Center the plot 5 Plot Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines	Plot offset		OUser defined	Ť				
Y: 7.6 mm Scale Line weight with scale factor Center the plot 5 Plot Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines	X: 10.3	mm	1: 1.0					
Center the plot 5 Plot Line weight ON/OFF Replace halftone with thin lines No style Proview Print 6 Cancel Apply	Y: 7.6	mm	Scale Line weight	with scale factor				
Replace halftone with thin lines No style Proview			Plot Line weight C	N/OFF				
No style Preview Print Cancel Anniv			Replace halftone	with thin lines				
	No style			Preview		Print	6	Cancel Apply

Printer/Plotter

All available PDF options and printers are in this list. You can choose any of the available options at your preference.

Paper size (1)

Here you can set the paper size, orientation, and the number of copies. Based on these settings, the paper and printable size information will be automatically set in Print dialog.

Orientation (2)

圁

圁

Specifies the drawing orientation. You can select Default or Rotated drawing option.

Don't confuse the Orientation with paper orientation. The former refers to the drawing and the latter to the paper sheet.

Content to print (3)

Specifies the area of the drawing to be printed.

Scale factor (4)

You can choose a predefined scale factor: e.g.: 1:100 The Scale to Fit calculates the best scale to fit the current paper size.

You need to set the scale 1:1 in case of publishing a plot layout, because the layout is a real-world size virtual paper and does not need to be further scaled.

Center the plot (5)

It moves the drawing center point into the paper center point.

Printing (6)

The Print button starts printing the content based on the settings of the Print dialog. The result can be a hard copy or a PDF file based on the selected Printer.

2.3.1. PDF printing / Publishing a PDF file

This time we will publish a PDF file out of the previously assembled Plot layout.

- Make sure you have the plot layout activated and start the Ribbon bar / Documentation / PDF print command.
- Click on the file path button in the appearing dialog and browse for a file location and type a filename and click on the "Save" button.

Architectural Tutorial

Entire drawing	
O Current view	
O Window	
	Window
O Printable Area:	
	57400x40000
- Set up the paper size to A3 landscape.
- Set the scale factor to 1:1 remember the plot layout is a virtual paper in real-world size.
- Make sure that the "Entire drawing" option is enabled and click on the "Center the plot" option to align the content.
- Start publishing the PDF file by clicking on the **Print** button.

The PDF file is created in the predefined folder under the specified name.

2.3.2. Print queue

A print queue is a print/publish job-list that you can assemble and save with the project. It is extremely helpful when you need to publish your drawings over and over again, because it stores all the publishing settings for each and every content added to the print queue. This feature might not be available in all versions of the software, so please double check the availability of the command before you proceed.

Putting together the Printing Queue is simple:

- Start the File menu / Print queue command.
- Click on the green plus, and select the view/drawing/layout to be added to the Printing Queue from the Project Navigator.
- Click on the A-001 group name to select all plot layouts in it and click on OK.



Set up the printing properties in the appearing dialog and the close it with the "Apply" button.



x 297 mm Total drawing size 420 x 297 mm x 297 mm Printable drawing size 420 x 297 mm
Dokument_27072021_0000.pdf
Colour mm Colour in grayscale All colour in black
Colour -> Pen
Print all text in black Visible floor in grayscale Orientation Orientation
ORotated drawing
Scale:
I:1 User defined in I: i Im Scale Line weight with scale factor Plot Line weight ON/OFF
m 1: 1 m Scale Line weight with scale factor Plot Line weight ON/OFF

• Keep adding as many tasks to the list as you need.

You can add, modify and cancel documents before starting to print. You can print the documents into one PDF file with multiple pages if you use the same file name or you can print the content directly to the selected printer.

Select / Unselect all	Document	Printer name	Filename	Error report
7	A-001 - Sheet 1	PDF Printing	27072021_0000).pdf
	A-001 - Sheet 2	PDF Printing	27072021_0000).pdf
	A-001 - Sheet 3	PDF Printing	27072021_0000).pdf
	A-001 - Sheet 5	PDF Printing	27072021_0000).pdf
Zentin interview	C:\Us	sers\ztoth\Documents\Dokumer	nt_27072021_0000.pdf	
☐ Combine into a single PDF Printing	C:\Us PDF file	sers \ztoth \Documents \Dokumer	nt_27072021_0000.pdf	6
☐ Combine into a single 2DF Printing	C:\Us	sers\ztoth\Documents\Dokumer	nt_27072021_0000.pdf	A-001 - Sheet 5
Combine into a single	C:\Us	sers \ztoth\Documents\Dokumer	nt_27072021_0000.pdf	A-001 - Sheet 5 Default
Combine into a single	C:\Us	sers\ztoth\Documents\Dokumer	nt_27072021_0000.pdf	A-001 - Sheet 5 Default 210 x 297 mm
Combine into a single	C:\Us	sers \ztoth\Documents\Dokumer	nt_27072021_0000.pdf	A-001 - Sheet 5 Default 210 x 297 mm 210 x 297 mm
Combine into a single PDF Printing	C:\Us	sers \ztoth \Documents \Dokumer	nt_27072021_0000.pdf	A-001 - Sheet 5 Default 210 x 297 mm 210 x 297 mm 1: 1.000

• Click Print to print out the sheets into one PDF file. It will be saved in the selected folder.



2.3.3. Exporting DWG files

Exporting DWG files from ARCHLine.XP® helps the communication with other CAD software. You can export 2D and 3D content from your project to DWG files.

- Activate the South Elevation view.
- Start the File / Export / DWG command.
- Define the path of the file where you want it to be saved and change the name to "Elata_South_Elevation.dwg". Click on Save.
- In the appearing dialog define the File version and the Units too.

Unit:	mm	
File version:	Release 2004-2006	Design
Export building	All buildings	Alliance
Phase Filters	All	
Others		
Export dimension measured value as text	Colour conversion:	Off
Ignore invisible layers and its items	Keep black and whi	te (no inverse)
Export group IDs as attribute	Convert text to	single and multi line
Create log and audit files		
Apply phase graphic override		
Export from visible floors		

• Click on OK to accept the settings and start the export.

2.3.4. Exporting IFC files

Exporting the 3D model into an IFC file helps architects and designers to communicate with each other in an efficient way.

- Start the File / Export / IFC command.
- Define the path of the file where you want it to be saved and change the name to "Elata_Nova_BIM.ifc". Click on Save.
- In the appearing dialog define the elements you want to export into the IFC file.
- You can also change the LOG settings here.
- Without any changes click on the OK button to start the export.



112 Part 2: Documentation

• You can check the exported file in any IFC compatible viewer.



Good to know: LOG settings

You can set different Level of Geometry settings for the 3D model, which will change the complexity of the 3D model.

• Click on the arrow next to the 3D hammer icon and select the Build 3D model option.



• In the appearing dialog you can select from the available LOG settings and change the 3D model parameters.

ews	Level of Geometry	Others
- View - View 2 (Axonometric) - Section - Section 1 - Section 1 - Section 1 - Section 1 - View 2 (Axonometric) - Section 1 - S	Symbolic Schematic Detailed Occumentation Construction	
	Content of 3D model Selecting floor plans by storeys for 3D mod All Element types	el construction

• You can also easily change between the LOG settings from the Ribbon bar.



• You can also customize the LOG settings of each representation mode for each 3D view separately.



Level of Geometry settings									×
Views Usw View 1 (Axonometric)	Level of Geo Wall Symbolic Coarse Schematic Coarse Detailed Medium © Docume Fine Construction Finest	Slab V Coarse V V Coarse V V Medium V V Fine V V Fine V	Roof C Coarse V Nr Coarse C Medium M Fine Fi Finest Fi	Ceiling Iot visible icoarse ine ine vine	Openings Not visible V Make a void V No geometry V Geomet V Geomet V	Stair and ramp Obje Not visibile V Not visibile Waist slab Bour Waist sl Norn Waist sl Norn	ect Beam visible VNot visibli ddin Soundin hal Simplifie hal Detailed hal Detailed	Column Not visible Boundin Simplifie Detailed Detailed	Others V Image: I
	Save a Content of 3D model Selecting floor plans by stor All	as global reys for 3D model con	struction	Res	set settings to defa	ault	Restore you Element types All	r defaults to factory s	ettings ~
	LOUS stantas for Level of Ledon Symbolic - Conceptual mode Schematic - Schematic design Detailed - Detailed design w Documentation - Construction modeled. Fabrication - Fabrication desi Source: Level of Developmen	J. Diplays the existence with approximate siz with specified size, sha n documentation desig gn. Elements are mod t Specification - www	sed to describe the ce of elements but e, shape and locatio upe, spacing and loc up, with specified siz eled at sufficient de bimforum.org	e precision of a mit t not its shape, siz ion. cation. ze, shape, spacing letail and accuracy	ore. ze, or precise locat g and location. Par / for fabrication of	tion. -ts necessary for coordin - the represented compor	ation of the element with	h nearby or attached	elements are



3. Part: Visual design

3.1. Preparing the model

Previously, we have created several plot layouts, sections, elevations and other content. For the rest of this tutorial, we only need the 2D floorplan and the 3D content.

- Find and close the drawing windows and keep only the 2D and 3D drawing.
- When prompted to save the content you are about to close, choose "Yes".

There is a Schedule next to our drawing and we would like to turn off its visibility. To do that please follow these steps: Open the Layer walk dialog and while pressing the CTRL key, switch off the visibility of the layers like in the picture below.

Click on the **3D hammer** to rebuild the 3D content based on the layer properties of the 2D content.

0 (15)	
0 (13) Column (0)	
Dimension - Elevation I	aval (10)
Dimension - Label dime	nsion (3)
Dimension - Length (19	(4)
Dimension - Opening di	mension (31)
elata nova START-Gr	ound floor Column (
elata nova START-Gr	ound floor line (1)
elata nova START-Gr	ound floor ISlab (85)
elata nova START-Gr	ound floor Stair (633
elata_nova_START-Gr	ound floor Wall - Loa
elata_nova_START-Gr	ound floor Wall - Par
Group (11)	11 11 12.5
Interior - Living room -	Furnishing (768)
Line (6)	
Railing (33)	
Roof (683)	
Slab (73)	
Space (23)	
Stall (2/4) Text (100)	
Wall - Load-bearing wa	1 (770)
Wall - Partition wall (27	73)
	-97
Display empty layers	e i
OK	Cancel

3.1.1. Creating a simple sketch of the neighbouring building

Previously we created a few other building blocks. Now we will create a simplified sketch of the remaining buildings of this particular building block by enabling the proper 2D DWG content and sketching a building volume based on the contour of it.

- Start the Conceptual building model command from the Ribbon bar / Building / Masses option.
- The path editing mode is activated and you can start drawing the contour line of the mass.
- Start it from the top right corner of the building and draw a 21000 mm long line to the right, then snap the next corner to the bottom of the building and add the last corner too.
- Hit Enter to finish drawing and open the Building gross volume dialog.





Let's set up the settings of the Building Volume:

- Value A is to be set to 65 degrees. Click on the "For all sides" button to make this value available on all the sides of the shape.
- Set value B to 6.500 mm for all sides. This is the front vertical elevation of the shape.
- Set value E to 10.000 mm. This is the maximum height of the volume.



Click on the left side and set it to a gable end by typing 0 degrees to value A.



- Click on the right side and set it to 55 degrees changing value A.
- Close the window by clicking on **OK**.

This creates the building volume at the default height and with a default material. Let's customize that. Find the **Base elevation** value on the left-hand side and change it to **-200 mm**.

•

•



Now that we are done with the sketch of the neighbouring building, we can place it on another layer.

- Open the Layer manager. •
- Create a new layer by clicking on the sicon. Double click on its name and change it to "conceptual_building_model".
- Click OK to accept the changes and close the window. •

The name of	current la	yer: Int	erior - B	edroom - L	ighting				Show visible layers only
ame	On	Lock	Pr	Elem	C	Line-type	Line-w	Description	Layer filters
0	8	r	8	15		Simple Line	0 mm		
87 Vonal	9	8	-	0		Simple Line	0 mm		All layers
91 Csoport1	2	ā		0		Simple Line	0 mm		Used layers
aa cartografia	8	a		0		Simple Line	0 mm		elata_nova_START-Ground floor (60
aa no stampa	9	8		0		Simple Line	0 mm		
aa recinzione	9	8	-	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
aa SUPERFICI	9	8	-	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
aa viabilit\U+00E0	9	8		0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Layer 0	2	a	ā	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Laver 0(1)		8	-	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
MURI	9	8	ē	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Alap	9	a		0		Simple Line	0 mm		Layer filter restricts the layers displayed in the
Beam	9	A		0		Simple Line	0 mm		Layer list to the selected layers. Drag and dr
CarryOver		ā	A	0		Simple Line	0 mm		the selected layers onto the layer filter
Ceiling	0	ā	A	0		Simple Line	0 mm		Variations
CHIAVE		8	Ā	0	_	Simple Line	0 mm		
Circle		Ā	à	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Circle(1)		a	A	0		Simple Line	0 mm		⊡. Available variations
Column 6	9	-	A	9		Simple Line	0 mm		All layers
Column(1)		Ä	A	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
conceptuan_building_model	9	5	6	0		Simple Line 💌	0 mm 💌		
Decoration	8	8	8	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Decoration - Exterior	9	8	8	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Decoration - Interior	8	8	8	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Dimension	9	8	8	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Dimension - Angle	2	8	9	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Dimension - Area	8	8	8	0		Simple Line	0 mm		
Dimension - Electrical	8	8	0	0		Simple Line	0 mm		A layer variation saves all the layers with the
Dimension - Elevation level		8	9	10		Simple Line	0 mm		Current states. It helps switching between
		-	1000					>	possible layer variations in one step.

Select the conceptional building model and change the layer in the property grid to the one you just created. •



.



While it is selected, change the representation color to grey.



3.1.2. Linking terrain and buildings

Let's say that we are working together with other Civil Engineers and Architects, who created the rest of the building and the terrain around the building, thus we don't need to create these elements, only link them to the project. Find the projects in the external_projects folder in the install set.

• Activate the floor plan and change the Phase filter to New Construction plan.

Existing State 🔹	
Design center	
[Search in all items]	
A	Demolition plan
Building	Existing plan after Demolition
	New Construction plan
Building	

• Open the Edit levels dialog and add a new floor to the building: Surroundings.

Edit leve	els 🚺								x
<					8	List of buildings	Architecture		
Num 3 2 1 0	Name 2. floor 1. floor Ground floor Surroundings	Bottom eleva 6000 mm 3000 mm 0 mm -3000 mm	Height 3000 mm 3000 mm 3000 mm 3000 mm	State Off Off Active Off	Level increment 0 mm 0 mm 0 mm 0 mm	Parameters	Name FF - Finish Floor TS - Top of Structure BS - Bottom of Structure	Elev. Offset 50 mm 0 mm -300 mm	^
	2						LE - Ledge FH - Floor height Copy area	-350 mm 3000 mm	~
∑ Site le	vel is visible on the floor plan			Building elev.	ation above sea level	in m		(N++1) (N+1) (N+1) (N+1) (N+1) (N) (N) (N) (N) (N) (N)	F BS E E S E
⊡ site ie	vens visible on the noor plan			0 m	auon above sea level l		<u>PK</u>	Ca	ncel

- Now go to File / Link and start the Link Project command.
- Select the elata_nova_JL_surroundings.pro file and select the Document2.asc (Tutorial_01) file on the right side.
- Click Open to link it to the project and click OK in the appearing dialog.
- Activate the Surroundings floor and rebuild the 3D model with the 3D hammer.



119

🐟 ARCH INE. 🕏

Now that we have the surrounding linked to the project, it is time to link the rest of the building to the project.

- Link the elata_nova_TS_buildings.pro file the same way as we did previously.
- Rebuild the 3D model to see the changes.



- Activate the floor plan and switch off the conceptual_building_model layer in the Layer Walk.
- Refresh the 3D model again to see the changes.

3.1.3. Drawing a swimming pool

As the terrace is more of a visual item and not a detailed part of the documentation, we will create a very simple representation of the terrace by using the slab tool.

- Activate the floor plan and click on the arrow next to the floor's name on the lower toolbar.
- Click on the light bulb icon next to the Surroundings floor and hit enter.



- Start the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Structure / Slab tool.
- Change the Total thickness to -300 mm.
- Unlink the materials, find the "Top material" and change it to Deck_wood_11 for now.
- Click on OK to accept the changes.
- Activate the Ribbon bar / Building / Slab / Slab in Sketch mode.
- Trace the contours of the fence and the back of the building to create the four-sided shape of the backyard terrace.



3.1.4. Drilling a hole into the terrace for the pool

- Previously disabled layers might automatically re-appear during work. This happens mostly when the selected tool uses a layer that was disabled. In this case the software automatically enables the layer to be able to draft the item. Use the Layerwalk or the Layer manager to disable these layers any time again.
 - Before we start creating the actual hole in the slab let's design its shape using classic Drafting tools.
 - Select the Ribbon bar / Drafting / Rectangle tool.
 - Place the first point of the rectangle with a click and move your mouse to the right. Press TAB and type **5500 mm** for X spacing then hit **Enter**. This will be the width of the rectangle.
 - Move your mouse up or down, type 3500 mm and hit Enter. This will be the height of the rectangle.
 - Select the rectangle and click on the move icon. Select the Move from command and align it to the corner of the house.
 - Select the rectangle and click on the blue dot marker, representing its corner point.
 - Select the "Fillet all" command and move your mouse to find the best visual result and click to round off the corners.



Creating a 2D draft of a 3D shape has a few advantages. It can be repositioned, modified and used for visual thinking before creating the real result, and it can also be re-used later at any time. Now let's create a real cut through the actual terrace slab based on the previously designed pool shape.

- Click on the slab contour and use the context menu to find the Hole / Create a hole command.
- Find the "Closed loop" keyword at the top of the screen and click on it.



122 Part 3: Visual Design

• Click into the previously drafted rectangle shape to make its shape recognized by the software.



3.1.5. Creating the pool water using the slab tool

Now there is a hole in the slab and we need to fill it up with water.

- Start the Ribbon bar / Building / Properties / Structure / Slab tool.
- Change the Base offset to -100 mm and the Total thickness to -200 mm.
- Find the "Top material" and change it to Water_1.
- Click OK to accept the changes.
- Start the Slab in Sketch mode command and click on the Closed loop command.
- Click in the pool's area to create the water.

3.1.6. Importing objects

ARCHLine.XP comes with a built-in library of objects which you can use at any time, but its biggest power is in the many other tools and file formats you can use and import to find the latest possible products. These products you can find online either as free or commercial models.

Let's start with a built-in parametric object: a parasol.

- Find and start the Ribbon bar / Interior / Soft Furnishing / Parasol tool.
- Place it on the drawing with a click and refine its position if necessary.

Many built-in objects are parametric in ARCHLine.XP. This means that not only their materials and size can be changed, but also other parameters of them can be modified. In case of a parasol you can change how many sides the parasol has, for example.

There are popular platforms that you can get access to right from within the software. Let's see what we can do using the free 3D Warehouse platform, provided by Trimble®.

- Start the Ribbon bar / Interior / Warehouse tool.
- Search for deck chairs. Use the keyword "liegestuhl" to find the one we used in this tutorial.
- Click on its thumbnail to enlarge the image and download the model into the design.



• Place it on the drawing in 2 copies and rotate and move the copies to create an arrangement on the terrace.

The pool also needs a ladder. Let's use the 3D Warehouse again.

- Open Warehouse and find the "Swimming Pool Ladder" object.
- Click on it and download.

3D Warehouse			x
🗲 🖃 🗋 🗆 Multiple download			
3D Warehouse		Tei-Eliauchilla	↑ 🛞 Illes P.
CATEGORY	Swimming Poo	l Ladder	
Category All Cotegories			Relevance \downarrow
Subangery			
File Size 0 - 100 MB	IIII		Swimming Pool La
Polygons: 0 - Max ADVANCED	Sid Likes 127K Downloads Materials Polygons File Size Modified Dare	Download	Swimming Pool Wi
Reset All Filters	See more detai	ls	loolincold5
			1

• Place it on the drawing and rotate if necessary.

Snapping is now only available for hotspots of objects. In order to be able to snap to any point of the objects, we need to deactivate the following option in the settings:

- Click on the gear icon in the bottom left corner and click on the Snap and grid tab.
- Deactivate the Find the reference points for objects, columns, beams only option.

124 Part 3: Visual Design

٠

Graphics		
Open and Save	Colour	1
∧ Units and angles	Style	Line
	Nudging elements with keyboard arrow keys	
Snap and grid	Increment to move the selected elements (Horizontal or vertical)	100 mm
'🐂 Cursor and marker	Fine increment to move the selected elements (SHIFT + Arrow keys)	10 mm
User interface	* *Object Snap	
Q Item cettings	Object Snap Enabled	
 Item setungs 	Object Snap is switching off above:	1000000
	Size of the pickbox (in % relative to the screen size):	1.00
	ORTHO (Angle snap) enabled	
	Angle snap increments	Edit
	Snap in fixed direction	
	Distance	10 mm
	Angle	5°
	Snap to:	
	Perpendicular	
	Endpoint	
	Midpoint	
	Center	
	✓ Nearest point	
	Intersection	
	Focus point	
	Tangent	
	Find the reference points for objects, columns, beams only	
	Option saved with the project	
	Options with an asterisk character (*) are saved into the project.	
Close	Other options are saved into the registry - affecting all projects	
o III 🛛 🔌	🕼 🖳 📘 🚓 Ground floor 🗸 🤺	Inter

The top view helps properly matching the swimming pool ladder object to the side of the pool.

- Use the Move from... command and click on the 2D symbol of the ladder object to define the reference point.
- Move your mouse and snap it to the side of the pool and click to place it.



- Select it on the 3D and click on the vertical blue arrowhead.
- Choose "Move" and move it vertically until you find the proper position and click to place it there.



If during the creation of the previous content any layer turned on, it is because the tools you have used had a setting referencing an invisible layer. In such cases the software automatically turns on the visibility of such layers and unlocks them for editing. To make any of these layers invisible again, please simply turn their visibility off.

- Open the Layer manager.
- Find and click on the elata_nova_START-Ground floor filter.
- Select all the layers of this filter and turn off their visibility.

3.1.7. Perspective views

One of the essential parts of the project organization is setting the views properly for a well-ordered project. If you consistently follow the same logic, to set perspectives in the 3D window and name them appropriately, it will be easier to navigate through them.

 \square

In case of multilevel buildings, it can be useful to use numbering before the name of the perspective views. This way we can easily distinguish views of the first level from the view of ground floor for example. On the ground floor you can use "0_bathroom_ view_01" and on the first floor "1_bathroom_view_01". Let's try this in practice.

- Please activate a 3D window now.
- Select the right bottom "Perspective dialog" icon of the Navibar.
- Set up a perspective view: you need to click and drag the blue marker to find the location for the viewer or camera. Drag it to the left bottom corner of your drawing outside the building.
- You also need to set up the target viewpoint. Click and drag the grey dot marker and move it above the center of the building.
- To add a view, you need to click on the green cross.
- You can name your view by double clicking on it.
- Repeat these steps to add a few more views and finally close the dialog window with the OK button.

The program is automatically sorting all views in an alphabetical order. This is also why it is good practice to put a number before the name of the consecutive perspective views to control their order.





	Saved v	/iews	- 🛖 🕽
	01_st 02_0 03_Ba 04_liv 05_lh	reet_from_left verview_front ickyard vingroom_01 vingroom_02	
	Camera 7	1400 mm]
50 100	Target Z	1400 mm	OK N
	-		

When in a 3D view, you can use either the up and down buttons at the status bar of ARCHLine.XP to navigate from one view to another. Alternatively, you can also use the **Page Up** and **Page Down** keys on your keyboard to do the same.

Defining a perspective directly on the floor plan

There is a special blue perspective symbol on the 2D drawing which you can use to see the current perspective view's position over the plan and to set up a different perspective or to navigate in the 3D model. You can:

- click and drag the center of the symbol to move it around,
- or click and drag the tiny arrow to refine the view direction and pull the camera like a cart.

3.1.8. Adding shadows

Activate shadows to make the 3D view more realistic.

- Activate the shadows with the Ribbon bar / View / Shadow / Shadows on/off command.
- The shadows now appear in the 3D view.
- To finetune the shadows, activate the Property grid on the left side and change between Soft shadows and Hard shadows in the shadow type row.
- Select Soft shadows for the project.



Soft shadows create a simplified version of the shadow in the fastest way, while hard shadows create the correct shadows but it is slower and needs more processing power.

3.1.9. Sun light

After setting the materials right, the other key to realistic rendering is the sunlight settings. In the following we will see a few examples of displaying and setting lights.

It is important in both interior design and architectural plans how the sunlight illuminates the interior and exterior surfaces of the model. We can set the direction of sunlight two ways:

- Heliodon based artistic lighting and
- Geo-location based realistic lighting.

Heliodon based lighting

This is a good solution when we want to put the model in an artistic / advantageous lighting and we are not eager to know more about the real light effects. This tool can be found at different places in the software. Let's see how this tool works:

 Click on the tiny arrow on the bottom toolbar next to the "North direction" icon and start the "Heliodon" tool.

Heliodon is a simplified model of a hemisphere above our model. We can see the line of the horizon and the vertical axis of a simplified sun path.

• To turn on the visibility of Sun shadows you need to click on the Shadow icon of the Navibar and select the "**Shadow on**" option.



	Nort	h directio	n	
☆	Sun position			
-	Heliodon			
	Shadow on/off			
	Elevation shadow			
1	Shadow animation			
1	Solar access			
	Shadow simulation			
\geq	•	+*	ÎR,	0

• You may need to zoom out and rotate the model slightly to see the Heliodon from above.



Heliodon is always represented with clearly visible markers while using it inside or outside. Let's make a change:

- Click on one of the blue dot markers at the bottom horizon line and move it around to find another direction for the main axis. Click to define.
- Click on the Sun icon appearing on the main axis and move it around to find the best position and click to finish.
- When you are completely finished with the settings, close Heliodon by pressing ESC.



3.1.10. Shadow simulation

Shadow simulation offers a real-time tool to study how the sunlight affects your building, based on the previously set sun settings, location and the North direction.

• Select the Ribbon bar / View / Shadow simulation command.



• You can click and drag the Sun symbol or the Time and the Date slider to study the shadows cast by the sunlight.

3.1.11. Working with lamps

ARCHLine.XP has a built-in library of lamps and you can also create your lamps for interior or exterior models. A lamp is basically a composite of an object and at least one light source. You can turn lamps on or off and you can also change the color or intensity of their light sources. These topics are not covered in this tutorial, but feel free to find our detailed tutorials and learn more about lamps when you need.

Let's see how to find and place a lamp.

- Open the Design Center and find the "Objects / Lighting / Ceiling lights" category.
- Click and drag the "Ceiling lamp 3" into the 3D surface under the porch ceiling of the entrance.



- To change the light settings of a lamp select it and switch to the "Light sources" component of it at the left top of the properties list, by clicking on "**Object**" and selecting "Light sources".
- Here you can turn it on or off and manage the Dimming level of the light.

Properties		å ×
Light sources		*
Light sources		
Property	Value	
General propertie	5	
Name		
Туре	Sphere	~
Category	Incande	~
Luminous Flux	1700 lm	\sim
Colour		
Fall-off	Inverse	\sim
ôwn parameters		
On		
Dimming level	100%	~
Light solid radius	30 mm	\sim

You can select a lamp and find the context menu "Lighting add/edit light source" command to add or remove light sources of a lamp. IES light profile files are also supported when adding light sources.

3.1.12. Taking snapshots

 \square

3.1.13. Working with materials

The software has a built-in material library where you can find materials using the Design Center in the materials catalogue.

- Open the Design Center and find a material in the Materials / Parquet / Strips category.
- Click and drag the material to the 3D surface of the internal floor and select the "Replacing one material with another" command. This changes the material here and also on the following floors everywhere in the model.



- Find the "parquet_rovere_02" material in the "Materials / Parquet / Strips" category.
- Click and drag the material to the 3D surface of the external terrace floor and select the "**Replacing one material with** another on this object" command. This changes the material only on this surface.
- Find the "Stonewall_48" material in the Materials catalogue.
- Click and drag the material to the longest external 3D wall surface of the building facing west and select the "As painting" command. This overpaints the material on this surface of the wall. Repeat this on both floors and the matching side of the slab.



3.1.14. Coloring materials and textures

Keep in mind, that the pattern of the floor doesn't change, this command overwrites only the color of the surface.

- To change the color of the floor select the floor, and click on the "Find material" in its menu.
- On the left side of the screen in the properties select the "Adding color" option.
- Now select the "RAL 1011 Brown beige" color of the floor.





3.1.15. Render styles

Render styles are quick settings to help you set up the most commonly used material types in your model. A render style defines the main characteristic of a material from transparency through brightness till bump mapping, automatically. It is a very good starting point when setting up materials. These settings can be later fully customized.

- Find and click on the "Render styles" option in the Design Center.
- Click and drag the "**Wall**" render style to the bright white wall surface and click on it. This makes the bright white material a wall material all around the project wherever it was already used.
- Do the same with the rest of the model to define wooden surfaces, metal surfaces, glass surfaces and so on.
- To check whether there is anything left use the "Color coded" switch.







This visualizes the model re-colored by the color-codes of the material render styles applied to their surfaces. You can easily find all glass or metal surfaces for example and if a surface has a different color code than the tiny color swatch at the left top corner of a render style you can click and drag the proper one onto that surface to change it.

3.1.16. Real-time render

Real-time render helps adjusting lights and material settings to find the best setting prior the final renders. Real-time rendered images are created very quickly based on the settings.

- Set up a small wide screen resolution for rendering. Click on the "Ribbon menu / View / Rendering / Standalone rendering – realtime draft" command. Close the appearing explanation and find the Resolution option to change it to "854x480" resolution.
- Click on the "Rendered frame on / off" button at the bottom of the dialog. This will set up the visibility of the borders of the final render in the model view. You might need to stretch the width of the 3D Image window to be able to see the borders represented with dashed lines.



This function is useful to set the perspectives precisely, because you can define exactly what will be visible in the final render.

Now start the "Standalone rendering – realtime draft" command again and start rendering by clicking on the "Start rendering" button.

Realtime rendering appears soon in a new window and as soon as you make changes in the model or modify the view for example, you will see those changes automatically updated to the realtime rendered image too.

- Make sure you add a parquet material from the Design Center to the terrace surface,
- and do not forget to add "Water" style to the pool water in the backyard.
- Add a "Translucent glass" render style to the glass surfaces of the balcony.
- Once you finished you can go back to the normal model view, by clicking on the "Restore" option next to the "Color coded" option in the Design Center.

Realtime render is performance demanding and you can close it at any time you need. To open it again, you only need to start the "Standalone rendering – realtime draft" command.

Geolocation-based lighting

Based on orientation and geo-location we can determine the location and the exact time when the sunlight effects the model. This can be easily set on **Ribbon menu / File / BIM / "Project Parameters"** option. In the appearing dialog we can enter all the requested data. This is useful when we want to know exactly how sunlight effects the model at a given time and we want to make a shadow analysis.

- First, open the Sun setting dialog by using the Ribbon bar / View / Sun / Sun position command.
- The shadow will be accurately represented after setting up the location, the date, the time and the north direction and closing the dialog window by clicking on the OK button.



• Make sure that the shadow representation is turned on to see the result by using the shadow icon of the Navibar and selecting the "Shadow on" option.



3.1.17. Working with Color cards

The Color cards tool is for creating a collection of predefined lists of materials (colored or textured) to be able to replace a material with another material of choice on the entire 3D model in a second. This predefined list of materials helps you better representing your model to your clients in several combinations of materials in a matter of seconds.

- Select the "Material" panel and the "In Model" category in the Design Center.
- · Click on a material you are going to convert.
- Click on the Options button and select the "Create a copy as a Color card" command.

.

< <back< th=""><th></th><th>*</th><th>Forestronger</th></back<>		*	Forestronger
Stonewall 0	048	1	Settings
		+	Add to favourites
Previous Ne	xt Jump to category		Sort in categories
MEST		×	Delete
T	The second of	•	Export
E		-	Export to Live
NT 2		Ţ.	Create a copy as a color card
NOR WHE	Tonted and		Make a copy
			Copy Image
- Int	A PIC	-	Copy to category
See Market	BUC-BAR	+	Get update from category
The		Ē	Categories
- IF-I		P	Save icon
Details			Tags of this item
Parameters	Value		Element identifier

When asked to make a copy as a color card, please click on the "Yes" button.



In the appearing dialog you can collect new materials and add them to the color card.

Color card manager			×
Name of the new material:			
mauersteine048			~
Category:			
COLOR CARD			
Sub category:			
Other			~
Producer:			
generic			~
(Use \ to organize into tree-structure eg: Myroom\Furniture)			
Current:			
Stonewall_048			
Name Stonewall_048			
The Color card is a collector of real material and displays the co- number of materials in the list. It has the advantage that differ presented by selecting another element in the list without cha to walls, windows, furniture, etc., then their modifications will APPLY MATERIALS IN THE PROJECT CATEGORY ONLY.	urrently selected ma rent versions of the nging the project. If not affect the 3D ma OK	terial. You can lis same 3D model (materials are dir odel in general. Y	st any can be ectly linked (OU CAN Cancel

You can also remove one from the collection or change which material is the current one. When you close the dialog with OK, the program replaces the original material with the previously selected "**Current**" material.

• Click on the "Add new" button (represented with a green plus symbol) and select a new replacement material to the collection.

- Keep adding a few more to have at least 5-6 alternative representations for the material.
- Click "**OK**" to close the dialog window.

 \square

Color card manager
News of the new statesial.
Name of the new material:
Category
COLOR CARD
Sub category:
Other v
Producer:
generic v
(Use \ to organize into tree-structure eg: Myroom\Furniture)
Current:
Stonewall_048
Name
Stonewal_048
GRANITE_SHIWAKASHI_01
Paves-cobbles
Delicato_Cremo
PANTONE S 55-4
• X
The Color card is a collector of real material and displays the currently selected material. You can list any number of materials in the list. It has the advantage that different versions of the same 3D model can be presented by selecting another element in the list without changing the project. If materials are directly linked to walls, windows, furniture, etc., then their modifications will not affect the 3D model in general. YOU CAN APPLY MATERIALS IN THE PROJECT CATEGORY ONLY.
OK Cancel

Keep in mind that the color card does not change its name when another material is selected to be the "Current" one. If you want to find the color card during work even easier, you can change its name (originated from the name of the first material converted) to a more descriptive name like "Elevation color card".

You can change the current material at any time. Find and click on the color card in the Design Center and click on the "**Color card**" icon at the left top corner of the image.



• Select a new "Current" material in the appearing dialog.

.

Ê



The result is automatically represented. Close the color card list.



Alternatively, you can also choose a new "Current" material using the Settings command under the "Options" menu (small cogwheel icon). This is also where you can manage the color card content.

Color card manager x
Name of the new material:
mauersteine048 V
Category:
COLOR CARD \checkmark
Sub category:
Other v
Producer:
generic v
(Use \ to organize into tree-structure eg: Myroom\Furniture)
Current:
PANTONE S 55-4
Name
Delicato Cremo
stonewall_048
GRANITE_SHIWAKASHI_01
Paves-cobbles
PANTONE S 55-4
★ X
The Color card is a collector of real material and displays the currently selected material. You can list any number of materials in the list. It has the advantage that different versions of the same 3D model can be presented by selecting another element in the list without changing the project. If materials are directly linked to walls, windows, furniture, etc., then their modifications will not affect the 3D model in general. YOU CAN APPLY MATERIALS IN THE PROJECT CATEGORY ONLY.
OK Cancel

3.1.18. Creating a new material

圖

ARCHLine.XP is shipped with a built-in material library. We have used them previously in this project, but it is essential to be able to create new materials for your projects either based on colors or textures of surface patterns. Let's see how to create a material based on an image search, using your web browser.

- Open your web browser and find a seamless image online. Use the following keywords for example: "grey brick seamless texture".
- Right click on the image in your browser and select "Copy image".

Note that based on which specific browser you are using this command might be simply "Copy" or "Copy to clipboard". The important thing here is that we do not want to save the image file on our computer now, we only want to copy it and later paste it into ARCHLine.XP.

- Go back to ARCHLine.XP, find the Design Center and open the "Material" catalogue.
- Use the "Create new material" command by clicking on the "Options" menu at the right top corner.

A Materials	
< <back 96="" elements<="" th="" =""><th>Multi selection mode</th></back>	Multi selection mode
IN MODEL	Create new material
	Create Color card
⊞ MY	Mtextur texture collection
⊞ BUILDING	Showroom

- Select the "Building" category and the "Brick" sub-category.
- Click on the "Paste" button to insert the previously copied image. This will be the texture of the new material.
- Make sure that the "**Physical properties**" page is activated and set width and height to **1000 mm x 1000 mm**. (Based on the result you found online you can use other values too.)
- Find the "Appearance" page and change the render style to "Wall".
- Click in the name field at the left top corner and change its name to "Bright grey brick 001".
- Close the dialog with the "OK" button.

Material properties	×
Bright grey brick 001	Render styles
Category:	Wall ~
BUILDING	
Sub category:	
Brick 🗸	Сору
Producer:	Paste
generic \checkmark	Transparency (Transmission)
Replacement colour:	Brightness
	Surface 0.80
	Automatic surface by texture 🗸
Use texture image	Bump Amplitude 0.05
Paste	Bump Softness
Browse	Reflection (Reflection factor, Mirroring)
	0.03
ClipboardImage1572432648.png	1.52
Physical properties	Blurriness of reflection (Visually indistinct mirroring,
Appearance	Blurriness of transparency (e.g. frosted glass)
Thermal narameters	0.00
Hatch in 3D	Fresnel effect (changes the material reflection and transmission based on the viewing angle)
Hatch on section	BIM parameters OK Cancel

Now you can use the new material on any surface you want. It will be available for all of your projects on this computer. Let's see how it looks like on a surface of this building.

- Change the material on any surface to see the result.
- Undo the change to the original material.

3.2. Visualization

Visualization and especially realistic visualization are very important when you would like to show the result of your design to a client. ARCHLine.XP offers a built-in renderer and supports also many 3D formats to be able to export your design and create visuals using external third-party rendering software packages as well. This following part discusses how you can use the built-in rendering abilities of ARCHLine.XP.

B Note that not all versions of ARCHLine.XP offer the built-in renderer.

3.2.1. Architectural render settings

There are several factors that define the speed and quality of the final result of a photorealistic rendered visual. Generally speaking, the higher the details and settings are the longer the calculation will take. Let's see these key factors:

Which factors affect the render time?

- 1. The computer you are working on (processor speed, memory size).
- 2. Project size (number of surfaces).
- 3. The complexity of the materials.
- 4. The complexity of the lights.
- 5. The render settings.

When rendering, it is recommended to turn off all the details of other rooms, except for the room currently being rendered. This will save you a considerable amount of render time, as the program does not need to calculate items that are not displayed in the final result anyway.

Rendering settings

To start rendering, open the **Ribbon bar / View / Rendering** menu. You have two main choices: you can start a standalone or an integrated rendering.

- The Integrated rendering appears as a drawing in the project and you can handle it as the drawing windows.
- The Standalone rendering opens an application which is in close connection with the program but runs separately.
- Start the "Ribbon bar / View / Rendering / Standalone render Real-time draft" command and the following settings window appears.

Resolution	854x480 (Widescreen 16:9)
Render quality	Real-time draft 2
Visualize the light sources	
Enable artificial <mark>l</mark> ights	
Enable sunlight	5
Bump mapping	6
Background	Panorama
Panorama	Just outside the town
Panorama direction	0
Specify a folder to save render i	C: \Users \Smál Orsolya \Documents \ARCHline.
Background brightness	100 Brighter, for exterior scenes 9
Background brightness	100 Brighter, for exterior scenes
Background brightness	100 Brighter, for exterior scenes
Background brightness	100 Brighter, for exterior scenes

- Let's set up the "Resolution" (1) first. Select 854x480 for now. This is a low-resolution for work and the reason we choose this is that lower resolutions render faster. Later, you can choose higher resolutions for the final renders for the client.
- The next setting is the "Render quality" (2). Let's keep it at "Real-time draft". This mode will give a quick but not final result. It is good enough to determine what to fine-tune. Later we will change this to a higher quality.

You have the following options to create final visuals for the client:

* Exterior – Quick render: For exteriors and well-lit interiors.

圖

- Interior Quick render: For images that are not clear enough using the "Exterior Quick render" quality setting. (Most probably when there is not enough direct light).
- High detail render: More details are displayed; the result will be clearer and noiseless but it will take more time.

Note that simply always going with the highest possible rendering quality might result in a good final render, but often the time you would invest into rendering like this will not lead to a considerable quality increase. Lower quality rendering settings may end up quite similar in many cases. The "Exterior – Quick render" for example can perform very well in well-lit interiors, too. In such cases increasing the quality to "Interior – Quick render" will take longer and sometimes will have no clearly visible difference. Test your scene with a lower quality setting first and if the result is not grainy you are good to go and use it for the final renders too.

- Leave the "Visualize the light sources" (3) option turned off. Using this option, you can turn on a simulation which visualize the light sources of the project as light bulbs. Usually this option is disabled because the source of the light is very well visible without it too.
- Enable the "Enable artificial light" (4) option. This option toggles the lights of the lamps in the project.
- Keep the "Enable sunlight" (5) option enabled. This toggles the direct sunlight. Note that turning off the sunlight does not mean that we will have a night time render. If this option is turned off, the result will resemble to a cloudy day outside.
- Keep "Bump mapping" (6) enabled. Materials have a bump map effect based on the selected render style or the custom settings made by the user. Bump map can increase realism and it is not too costly regarding rendering time, so it should be kept enabled.
- Select "Panorama" and the "Just outside the town" background for the render (7). Panoramic backgrounds completely surround the model. You can also choose a color or color gradient or an image as background. Feel free to select backgrounds from the pre-defined ones or browse for custom background images.
- We are not changing the "Specify a folder to save render images" (8) for now. This is basically a back-up location, where the program creates a back-up of the latest state of each image.



140 Part 3: Visual Design

- Leave the "Background brightness" (9) option on default. The brightness of backgrounds from different sources are not the same. You can adjust it here if necessary. In case of rendering exterior scenes the background brightness value should be set higher to better match the outdoor lighting conditions.
- Click on the "Start Rendering" button.

Once the rendering process is started you will see an image appearing in a matter of seconds, however, depending on your computer's speed it can take a while. In the appearing dialog window, you will see the rendering "Effects" on the left-hand side.

Set up the Exposure first. Try to find a good balance between lit and shaded areas, not allowing the image to become too
bright washed out or too dark. Exposure for exteriors is usually kept on default or even lowered a bit.

You can use the real-time draft render to find materials that need further attention. Pay extra attention to the wall surfaces, metals, wooden frames, glass surfaces and the roads too. Make sure you use the proper "Render styles" we discussed in an earlier paragraph of this tutorial.

When you have enough artificial lights inside and outside your model, you can also create night time renders. For this, you simply need to

- use the "Shadow simulation" command to find a time at night
- disable the "Enable sunlight" option and
- make sure the lamps are turned on and the "Enable artificial light" option is enabled.

3.2.2. Creating the final renders

If you want to create a final image from a rendering started as a real-time draft, you have to do the following:

- Activate the render window.
- Go to the **Details** tab. Here you can find the settings with which you have originally started the work.
- Select the "Exterior Quick render" quality from the options and the program automatically changes to normal render. In this case it will take a bit longer to complete the render.

Effects	Details	List	
Exterior -	Quick rende	er	•
Exterior -	Quick rende	er	
Interior - High detai	Quick rende I render	r	3
Real-time	ournight		



• The rendering can be stopped anytime with the Stop button seen at the bottom of the rendering dialog window. Later it can be re-started again using the start rendering button.



• To modify the resolution, click on the Stop button. Modify the resolution in the top right corner, then restart the render.

- While the program is working on the visuals, all the "Effects" can be modified on the fly. These settings can be modified on the final result as well.
- *Tip:* It is recommended to set the **Exposure** first, so that the white colors are right. This modification is visible immediately.
 - If you want to get back to the default value at any of the settings, you just have to click on the icon of the setting next to the slider.

If you want to reset all the effects, click on the Reset all button at the bottom of the tab.

- Wait until the image is processed and save the final image by clicking on the "Save" button.
- Save multiple versions of your render, by making changes on the "Effects" page and saving each and every version into a new file. It is recommended to choose JPG if you want to send it to your client.

3.2.3. Render list

圁

圁

There is a third tab in the render window for the "**Render list**". Creating the final images is a long process per image, and it is time consuming to save images and to switch to new ones, then launching a new rendering. Essentially, this process is automated by the rendering list.

• Click on the "List" tab and the previously saved perspective views appear here.

Effects	Details	List	
Select	/ Deselect A	ll Items	
	01_Street	_view	
	02_Left_	view	
	03_Backyar	d_view	
	04_Over	view	

In the Render list you can select multiple views. You just have to tick the square before the name of the view, then click on the "Start" button below.

Effec	ts Details List					
Se	Select / Deselect All Items					
		01_Street	_view			
		02_Left_view				
	03_Backyard_view					
	04_Overview					

(The selected images are rendered with the settings and resolution previously selected at each image).

Tip: It is recommended to leave the computer "alone" after starting the final render list. No other programs should run during the rendering because it will increase the render time.

Effects Details List	
Brightness	0
×	
Contrast	0
0	
Saturation	0
Shadows	0
(1)	
Mid tones	0
0	
Highlights	0
()	
White balance	6500K
ĸ	
Exposure	330
Tips	
Drag the sliders to modify the image effects. The changes will immediately appear - there is no need to stop or restart the rendering. To reset an effect simply click on its icon.	



Congratulations!

You have done an excellent job by meeting a serious and very useful milestone, you have completed the architectural tutorial of ARCHLine.XP!

With the help of this tutorial material you made yourself familiar with the methods of the accurate and precise architectural design.

With the knowledge you have acquired so far, you will be able to process complex floor plans, sections and elevations, all in one comprehensive model.

